University of Miami Scholarly Repository

Open Access Theses

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2008-01-01

Cellular Encapsulation Techniques: Camouflaging Islet Cells from the Immune and Inflammatory Responses Associated with Islet Transplantation

Kristina Kateri Finn University of Miami, kfinn@med.miami.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarlyrepository.miami.edu/oa_theses

Recommended Citation

Finn, Kristina Kateri, "Cellular Encapsulation Techniques: Camouflaging Islet Cells from the Immune and Inflammatory Responses Associated with Islet Transplantation" (2008). *Open Access Theses*. 231. https://scholarlyrepository.miami.edu/oa_theses/231

This Open access is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Scholarly Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Open Access Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarly Repository. For more information, please contact repository.library@miami.edu.

UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

CELLULAR ENCAPSULATION TECHNIQUES: CAMOUFLAGING ISLET CELLS FROM THE IMMUNE AND INFLAMMATORY RESPONSES ASSOCIATED WITH ISLET TRANSPLANTATION

By

Kristina Kateri Finn

A THESIS

Submitted to the Faculty of the University of Miami in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Coral Gables, Florida

December 2008

©2008 Kristina K. Finn All Rights Reserved

UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for degree of Master of Science

CELLULAR ENCAPSULATION TECHNIQUES: CAMOUFLAGING ISLET CELLS FROM THE IMMUNE AND INFLAMMATORY RESPONSES ASSOCIATED WITH ISLET TRANSPLANTATION

Kristina Kateri Finn

Approved:

Cherie Stabler, Ph.D. Assistant Professor of Biomedical Engineering

Fotios M. Andreopoulos, Ph.D. Assistant Professor of Biomedical Engineering Terri A. Scandura, Ph.D. Dean of Graduate School

Antonello Pileggi, M.D., Ph.D. Assistant Professor of Research in the Department of Surgery

FINN, KRISTINA KATERI Cellular Encapsulation Techniques: Camouflaging Islet Cells from the Immune and Inflammatory Responses Associated with Islet Transplantation.

(M.S., Biomedical Engineering) (December 2008)

Abstract of a thesis at the University of Miami.

Thesis supervised by Professor Cherie Stabler. No. of pages in text (94).

Diabetes is a debilitating disease affecting millions of people worldwide. The transplantation of insulin-producing, pancreatic islet cells has been an extensively explored approach for the treatment of Type 1 Diabetes. However, the need for a multidonor source, the strong host immune responses, and a life-long immunosuppressive therapy regimen limits the widespread applicability of islet transplantation. Encapsulation of islet cells within a semi-permeable biomaterial as a means to mask transplanted cells from the host has been shown to be a viable option for the protection of islets upon transplantation. Recent advancements, incorporating additional knowledge of biomaterials, have revitalized the field of islet encapsulation. This thesis work focused on both micro- and nano-scale encapsulation techniques. Initially, a novel, covalently linked alginate-poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), termed XAlginate-PEG, microcapsule was evaluated, and was shown to exhibit superior stability over traditional ionically bound alginate microcapsules. The XAlginate-PEG capsules exhibited a 5-fold decrease in osmotic swelling than traditional alginate microcapsules, and remained completely intact upon chelation of ionic interactions. In addition, *in vitro* study of the novel polymer matrix showed high compatibility with mouse insulinoma cell lines, rat and human islets. Furthermore, no disruption in islet function was observed upon encapsulation. The

second study of this thesis work focused on the nano-scale encapsulation of islets with a single layer PEG coating. A PEG polymer was grafted directly on the collagen matrix of the islet capsule to form a stable amide bond. PEGylation of the islet cells was shown to camouflage inflammatory agents, such as tissue factor (TF), present on the surface of the islet, while maintaining islet morphology and function. In summary, PEG dampened coagulation cascade activation, and concealed activated factor X (afX) generation under pro-inflammatory culture conditions. The present findings contribute to the field of cellular encapsulation, both in the fabrication of novel encapsulation techniques and the evaluation of nano-scale coatings. The future potential of this research includes the attenuation of immune responses to transplanted cells, elimination of continuous immunosuppression, and provide flexibility in cell source. Furthermore, the platforms evaluated in this thesis are generalized for all cell types, thereby permitting translation of techniques to alternative cellular therapies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I want to acknowledge my mentor Dr. Cherie Stabler who has guided me throughout my graduate study. She has given me the tools to practice better science, and without her this work would not have been possible. I would like to thank my committee members Drs. Fotios Andreopoulos and Antonello Pileggi for taking the time to evaluate this thesis work. I have much gratitude for the financial support provided by the Diabetes Research Institute and the Department of Biomedical Engineering at the University of Miami. I would like to acknowledge Dr. Kerim Gattas-Asfura for his invaluable work on the chemistry from which a large portion of this thesis is based upon. Sincere thanks to Chris Fraker and Eileen Pedraza for their continued support.

I want to thank my father, Thomas Finn, mother, Jude Finn, grandmother, Mary Finn and three brothers for their continued interest and support of my work. I want to thank the rest of my family and friends who have always supported me. Lastly, I want to thank my fiancé, Daniel Hall, for his unconditional love and encouragement throughout this entire process.

LIST	OF FIGURES	vi
CHAI	PTER	
Ι	INTRODUCTION	1
П	THESIS OBJECTIVES	3
	2.1 General Aims	
	2.2 Specific Aims	
	2.2.1 Paper I	
	2.2.2 Paper II	4
III	BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE	5
	3.1 Diabetes Mellitus and Islet Transplantation	5
	3.2 IBMIR, Immune Response and Sensitization	8
	3.2.1 Instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction (IBMIR)	8
	3.2.2 Immune Response	12
	3.2.3 Sensitization	12
	3.3 Encapsulation	13
	3.3.1 Microencapsulation	
	3.3.2 Nano-scale encapsulation	19
	3.3.2.1 PEGylation	
	3.3.3 Covalent Crosslinking	
	3.3.4 Chemo-selective and biocompatible covalent ligation schemes	
IV	COVALENTLY LINKED ALGINATE-PEG MICROCAPSULES FOR	
TH	E IMMUNOISOL ATION OF PANCREATIC ISLETS UPON	
TR	ANSPLANTATION	32
110	Summary	32
	4 1 Overview	33
	4.2 Materials and Methods	36
	4 2 1 General Reagents	36
	4.2.2 Polymer Characterization	
	4.2.3 Synthesis and characterization of Alginate-PEG ₃₂₆ -N ₃ .	
	4.2.4 Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) Diphosphine Synthesis	40
	4.2.5 Cell Culture	42
	4.2.6 Microcapsule formation and cellular encapsulation	42
	4.2.7 Stability	44
	4.2.8 Growth/viability measurements	44
	4.2.9 Measurement of Insulin Secretion	45
	4.2.10 Confocal microscopy of encapsulated cells	46
	4.2.11 Statistical Analysis	46
	4.3 Results	46
	4.3.1 Capsule Stability	46

TABLE OF CONTENTS

4.3.2 Growth/viability of cells in alginate-PEG capsules	50
4.3.3 Insulin Response to Glucose Challenge	56
4.4 Discussion	58
V SURFACE MODIFICATION OF PANCREATIC ISLETS TO ATTENUATE	
THE INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE ASSOCIATED WITH ISLET	
TRANSPLANTATION	62
Summary	62
5.1 Overview	63
5.2 Materials and Methods	65
5.2.1 Cell Culture	65
5.2.2 PEG-grafting	65
5.2.3 Confocal microscopy of PEGylated islets	66
5.2.4 Measurement of Insulin Secretion	66
5.2.5 Prothrombin Time Test (PTT)	67
5.2.6 Tumor Necrosis factor (TNF-α) Exposure	67
5.2.7 Activated factor X (afX) and activated Protein C (aPC) assay	67
5.2.8 Statistical Analysis	68
5.3 Results	68
5.3.1 Analysis of PEGylated islets	68
5.3.2 PEG capabilities to inflammatory response	70
5.4 Discussion	73
VI THESIS DISCUSSION	76
APPENDIX	78
REFERENCES	81

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 3-1. Extrinsic Pathway of the Coagulation Cascade	10
FIGURE 3-2. APC Pathway of the Anti-coagulation Cascade	11
FIGURE 3-3. Overview of methods used to create nano-layers on cell surfaces	21
FIGURE 3-4. The Staudinger ligation	30
FIGURE 4-1. Schematic of Alginate-PEG ₃₂₆ -N ₃ , Azide-Alg [1] synthesis	36
FIGURE 4-2. Schematic of Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) Diphosphine, 2DiP-PEG [5] synthesis.	36
FIGURE 4-3. Stability and swelling of Alginate-Barium and XAlginate-PEG microbeads in ion free water	47
FIGURE 4-4. Stability and swelling of Alginate-Barium and XAlginate-PEG MIN6 microbeads in ion free water.	48
FIGURE 4-5. Stability of XAlginate-PEG microbeads in EDTA solution	49
FIGURE 4-6. Stability of XAlginate-PEG MIN6 microbeads in EDTA solution	50
FIGURE 4-7. Growth/viability of MIN6 cells encapsulated with XAlginate-PEG or Alginate-Barium	51
FIGURE 4-8. Confocal images of encapsulated MIN6 cells	52
FIGURE 4-9. Confocal images of encapsulated Lewis rat islets	53
FIGURE 4-10. Assessment of Lewis rat islet viability following encapsulation with XAlginate-PEG or Alginate-Barium.	54
FIGURE 4-11. Confocal images of encapsulated human islets	55
FIGURE 4-12. Assessment of human islet viability following encapsulation with XAlginate-PEG or Alginate-Barium	56
FIGURE 4-13. Insulin stimulation index of XAlginate-PEG encapsulated and Alginate Barium encapsulated Lewis rat islets	e- 57
FIGURE 4-14. Insulin stimulation index of XAlginate-PEG encapsulated and Alginate Barium encapsulated human islets	÷- 58

FIGURE 5-1. Co	onfocal images of PEGylated human islets	9
FIGURE 5-2. Insistets	sulin stimulation index of cultured, long and short PEGylated human	9
FIGURE 5-3. Cl	lot time of cultured and PEGylated human islets	0
FIGURE 5-4. Cl	lot time of cultured human islets exposed to TNF- α	1
FIGURE 5-5. Fo (HI), of cultured I TNF-α	old induction of afX generation over control, or cultured human islets HI treated with TNF-α, PEGylated HI, and PEGylated HI treated with 7	2
FIGURE 5-6. Fo (HI), at multiple	old induction of aPC generation over control, or cultured human islets TNF-α exposure times	3

CHAPTER I

Introduction

Diabetes is a global disease with immense social and economic impact. Type 1 diabetes, characterized by the destruction of insulin-producing pancreatic β -cells [1], is currently treated with insulin therapy or in the case of severely diabetic patients, pancreatic transplantation. Clinical islet transplantation (CIT) has shown to be a promising, minimally invasive alternative to treat diabetes. Recent advancements made in immunosuppressive regimens over the last few years have improved transplant effectiveness, where recipients independently regulated blood glucose levels for several years [2-6]. However, the detrimental side effects of long-term immunosuppression, including both nephrotoxicity and hypertension [7], and the need for multiple donors to achieve insulin independence are major drawbacks to CIT. Furthermore, the use of multiple donors leads to patient sensitization which impairs their ability for future tissue transplants (islet, kidney or pancreas) [8]. Strong host inflammatory and immunological response to the donor tissue has also resulted in significant loss and impaired function of transplanted islets [9].

The highly inflammatory and immunogenic surface of the islet, due to the expression of highly inflammatory surface proteins and the presence of surface antigens, has lead researchers to attempt to mask this surface through the use of biomaterials, commonly referred to as encapsulation. Through the selection of highly biocompatible and biostable materials, encapsulation serves to mask cell surface proteins, as well as inflammatory extracellular matrix proteins, to minimize instigation of a detrimental host response. Encapsulation methods have been extensively developed and studied on all

scales, from macro, to micro, to nano, where each scale has its own advantages and disadvantages. Current research has shown the tremendous potential of encapsulation in minimizing negative host reactions, where even xenogenic transplantation, the transplantation of cells or tissue between species, is feasible. In this thesis, we have explored the potential of encapsulation both on the micro- and nano-scale as it relates to protecting islets.

CHAPTER II

Thesis Objectives

2.1 General Aims

Prior to the widespread clinical application of islet transplantation, the obstacles of multiple donor need, strong inflammatory and immune response, and life-long immunosuppression must be eliminated. In this thesis, we seek to minimize the detrimental host responses that lead to islet engraftment failure by encapsulating islets in novel biomaterials. The general aim of this thesis was to further cultivate methods of pancreatic islet cell encapsulation for their protection against the host's immune responses to transplantation. The design of effective strategies to encapsulate islets that are capable of providing protection from host attack could significantly improve transplant efficacy by reducing or completely eliminating the need for immunosuppressive therapy. Furthermore, the platforms evaluated in this thesis are generalized for all cell types, thereby permitting translation of techniques to alternative cellular therapies.

2.2 Specific Aims

2.2.1 Paper I: Covalently linked alginate-PEG microcapsules for immunoisolation of pancreatic islets upon transplantation

The specific aim of this study was to evaluate the potential of a novel, covalently linked alginate-PEG microcapsule for the encapsulation of islet cells. We sought to establish covalent linkages between highly biocompatible polymers to improve capsule stability and biocompatibility. The stability, viability, and function of cells encapsulated with the new polymeric material was investigated and compared to traditional ionically bound alginate capsules. 2.2.2 Paper II: Surface modification of pancreatic islets to attenuate the inflammatory response associated with islet transplantation

The specific aim of this study was to assess the ability of PEGylated islet cells to mask the islet surface, while not altering cell viability and function. The ability of PEG to attenuate inflammatory responses instigated by the islet surface was characterized under both pro-inflammatory and standard culture conditions. Results from these experiments will serve as controls for further studies exploring the benefits of multiple nano-scale layering for encapsulation.

Chapter III

Background and Significance

3.1 Diabetes Mellitus and Islet Transplantation

Diabetes mellitus is a disease in which the body is unable to maintain normal blood glucose levels with either a decreased production or improper action of insulin. Insulin is a hormone secreted by the pancreatic β cells when stimulated by glucose. Insulin is required for the cellular uptake of glucose, the body's main source of energy. There are two major types of diabetes – type 1 and type 2. In general, Type 1 diabetes is characterized by an autoimmune destruction of β cells resulting in an insufficient supply of insulin; Type 2 diabetes is associated with a decreased sensitivity to insulin resulting in an overproduction of insulin, and eventually requiring exogenous insulin therapy upon β -cell dysfunction.

Currently, diabetes affects 246 million people worldwide and is expected to affect 350 million by 2010 [10]. The social and economic impact has been shown to be extremely debilitating. Total annual economic cost of diabetes for 2007 was an estimated \$174 billion, with the medical costs accounting for \$116 billion: \$27 billion for the direct treatment of diabetes, \$58 billion to treat diabetes-related chronic complications, and \$31 billion in excess general medical costs [11]. The major complications associated with diabetes, and more often than not the cause of death in diabetic patients, include cardiovascular disease, retinopathy, neuropathy, atherosclerosis and nephropathy [12-14]. Diabetes was expected to cause 3.8 million deaths worldwide in 2007, about 6% of total global mortality [15].

Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus (T1DM) or Insulin Dependent Diabetes Mellitus (IDDM) is considered the most severe classification of diabetes, commonly occurring prior to adulthood. It is postulated that T1DM can be instigated by either genetic or environmental factors, such as infections, although this hypothesis has not been proven [16-18]. This organ-specific, autoimmune disorder results in the targeted destruction of insulin-producing β cells located in the islets of Langerhans in the pancreas, thereby eliminating the body's ability to generate insulin [19].

Insulin functions to signal target cells to increase the uptake and storage of glucose molecules. Furthermore, after the stomach converts sugar, starches and other food to glucose and the glucose enters the bloodstream, properly functioning β cells are needed to supply the appropriate amount of insulin required to transfer glucose into cells. The absence of insulin results in a decreased cellular uptake of glucose, amino acid and potassium absorption, as well as other crucial metabolic functions.

Current treatment of T1DM includes exogenous insulin therapy and organ or cell transplantation. Insulin therapy requires life-long exogenous insulin administration via injection or a catheter-pump system. It has been well demonstrated that maintaining normal blood glucose levels in patients with T1DM dramatically increases the chance of living a complication free life [9]. Recent advancements in pump technologies, including improved insulin formulations, have enabled diabetics to more closely regulate their blood glucose levels; however, there are still some inconsistencies with exogenous insulin administration when compared to the finely tuned glycemic control of a properly functioning pancreas. Unstable blood glucose fluctuations associated with this therapy typically leads to the secondary complications previously mentioned [12-14].

Alternatives to insulin therapy regimens require surgery and involve either a total pancreas transplant or the transplantation of isolated islet cells, known as clinical islet transplantation (CIT). Whole gland replacement has been shown to establish a state of normoglycemia at a success rate of 80% at one year [20]; however, total replacement is not a viable option for most patients with T1DM due to the high risk for surgical complications and the need for a lifelong immunosuppressive therapy regimen [20].

Islet transplantation has been shown to be as effective as pancreas transplantation with a success rate of 82% at one year, while also being a much less invasive alternative [21]. In CIT, islets are obtained from the pancreas of deceased organ donors, or allotransplantation. Since the islet cells constitute approximately 1% of the entire pancreas, the isolation process aims at enriching the endocrine component, while reducing the exocrine pancreatic tissue. A pancreas is digested using collagenase to breakdown connective tissue, allowing for the collection of islets with preserved structural integrity and potency [9]. The islets are then purified and cultured prior to transplantation into the liver via the portal vein, for eventual engraftment into the well perfused liver sinuses of the recipient [9]. The liver is the most commonly used site for islet infusion in the clinical setting. Other engraftment sites such as the spleen, the kidney sub-capsular space, the omentum, the peritoneal cavity, and sub-cutaneous space have been tested in experimental models. Islets are not transplanted back into the pancreas due to safety issues associated with manipulation of this organ, such as severe pancreatitis, even though experimental reports seem to indicate this may be possible to pursue [22].

Numerous advances in islet transplantation have been recorded in recent years. A notable study published by Shiapiro *et al*, in June 2000, demonstrated a successful trial in

which seven out of seven diabetic patients treated with islet transplantation were free from exogenous insulin therapy for 1 year [23]; subsequent clinical trials have confirmed and extended these observations reporting graft function for over five years, although only in a small number of patients. Widespread clinical application is hindered by the need for two to four donor pancreases for each recipient, inadequate long term graft function, and also the requirement of lifelong immunosuppression [9, 24]. The need for a large primary cell source is not supported by the number of donors currently available for transplant, thus limiting the number of transplants that can be performed each year. The use of lifelong immunosuppressive drugs is detrimental to the treatment of diabetes because of their cytotoxicity to islet cells and other possible side effects [25]. Therefore, islet transplantation is generally restricted to patients experiencing severe and recurrent episodes of hypoglycemia [8].

The venues explored to resolve these issues include *in vitro* modification for decreasing tissue immunogenicity, application of encapsulation techniques for immunoisolation, and the exploitation of multiple tissue sources including xenogenic islets and stem cell derived insulin-producing cells [9, 26, 27]. The focus of this thesis was to utilize encapsulation techniques to decrease immunogenicity and minimize inflammatory reaction to transplanted islets, while maintaining cell viability and function.

3.2 IBMIR, Immune response and Sensitization

3.2.1 Instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction (IBMIR)

The thrombotic reaction generated by the direct contact of islets with ABOcompatible blood was termed by Bennet *et al* as an *instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction* (IBMIR) [28]. This reaction involves the co-activation of the coagulation and complement systems as well as the rapid adhesion of activated platelets to the surface of the islet. Furthermore, as islets are transplanted into the bloodstream, leukocytes, including both monocytes and granulocytes, infiltrate the islets resulting in a disruption of islet integrity, and islet loss [28]. Additionally, the degree of tissue factor (TF), a known inflammatory surface protein, expressed by islet cells has been correlated to the intensity of the IBMIR [29]. IBMIR has been shown to occur during CIT in humans as well as in porcine and non-human primate transplantation models [28, 30]. It has been estimated that IBMIR may account for a loss up to 50% of islets within the first day of transplantation [31].

Tissue factor (TF), a transmembrane protein present in subendothelial tissue, platelets, and leukocytes, is the primary instigator of the coagulation cascade. TF operates as a receptor for the cleavage of factor VII to factor VIIa (fVIIa) [32, 33]. TF in combination with fVIIa represents the extrinsic pathway of coagulation in which an inactive protease factor X is converted into the active protease factor Xa [32, 33]. The Xase complex results in a combination of fXa with factor Va, which initiates the prothrombinase complex. The prothrombinase complex is responsible for the rapid conversion of prothrombin to thrombin, see Figure 3-1. In addition, the presence of thrombin activates cofactors V and VIII which form a positive feedback system to continuously generate thrombin [34]. Increased thrombin production leads to the unrestrained formation of a fibrin clot.

TF expression can be induced in cells, such as endocrine cells, when in contact with blood. The cell interaction with various immune complexes, cytokines, or lipopolysaccharides (LPS), present in blood, results in TF production [30]. Cytokines such as monocyte-derived cytokines interleukin (IL-1 β) and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) have been shown to induce TF production in endothelial cells [35-37]. Therefore, cells exposed to stress and/or cytokine storms typically express increased levels of TF on the cell surface.



Figure 3-1. Extrinsic Pathway of the Coagulation Cascade. Tissue factor (TF) is a key factor for the initiation of blood coagulation.

A regulator of blood coagulation is the membrane glycoprotein, thrombomodulin (TM). TM binds to thrombin to form a TM-thrombin anticoagulant complex. This complex activates circulating protein C (PC). PC is a vitamin K dependent precursor of serine protease, and activated Protein C (aPC) inactivates the cofactors Va and VIIIa involved in thrombin generation [38-40]. Thus, a negative feedback system, instigated by aPC, is used to regulate thrombin generation.



Figure 3-2. APC Pathway of the Anti-coagulation Cascade. Thrombomodulin (TM) is a key factor for the attenuation of blood coagulation.

The balance between TM and TF is a natural mechanism many cells, such as endothelial cells, utilize to alternate between an inflammatory and anti-inflammatory surface. Typically, TF and TM are not expressed by endothelial cells under normal conditions; thus, they are relatively inactive in instigating coagulation [41]. However, the balance is shifted to thrombogenic, with a downregulation of TM and upregulation of TF, when exposed to inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β or endotoxin [42-45]. The evaluation of TM and TF expression allows for an understanding of the regulatory role of cells in thrombin generation.

3.2.2 Immune Response

When allogenic islets are transplanted into the recipient, the islet allo-antigens instigate an antigen presentation pathway to the host immune cells. The *direct pathway* of T cell activation employs the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), in which antigens are presented to host immune cells by donor antigen producing cells (APCs) [9]. MHC molecules are present on all cells of the body (class I), but only the MHC molecules present on the surface of certain immune cells (class II), including macrophages and immune cells, elicit a host immune response due to the co-stimulation of T cell requirement to be fully active [46]. The *indirect pathway* involves the recipient APCs, where the donor antigens shed from the islet surface are collected, degraded and presented by the host's APCs [9].

Immunosuppressive therapy is currently used to minimize the immunological response instigated by allogenic islet transplantation. These drugs weaken the immune system to prevent graft rejection. Several trials of allogenic islet transplantation have shown a reproducible reversal of diabetes [23, 47, 48]; however, detrimental secondary complications including nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity, gastrointestinal intolerance and hypertension have resulted in continuous administration of immunosuppressive medications [7]. In addition, drug-induced β -cell toxicity is also a concern of a long-term immunosuppressive regimen application [20].

3.2.3 Sensitization

For islet transplantation to achieve insulin independence multiple donors are typically required [9]. The islets used for a particular patient is based on ABO blood compatibility and the number of islet equivalents (IEQs) required for the patient's weight. The limited donor source prevents distribution based on human leukocyte antigen (HLA) matching. Therefore, recipients of islet transplants may have multiple HLA mismatches, which can lead to the development of antibodies against both donor and nondonor HLA antigens [49]. In addition, the amount of antibodies formed have been shown to increase with a complete discontinuation of immunosuppressive therapy [49]. The broad sensitization of a patient has a negative impact on their ability to undergo future islet, pancreas or kidney transplants, given that it can significantly limit the pool of matched organs for the donor [49].

3.3 Encapsulation

The immunoisolation of transplanted islets is an attractive option for minimizing the host immune destruction of transplanted tissue. This involves encapsulating islets within a semi-permeable polymer biomaterial that allows for small molecule diffusion, such as glucose or insulin, while blocking larger molecules, such as immune cells and antibodies. Thus, islet rejection is prevented by blocking immune cell recognition and damage to the transplanted islets.

The encapsulated systems investigated include intravascular and extravascular macrocapsules, microcapsules and nanocapsules. *Intravascular macrocapsules* involve loading numerous islets within a hollow fibered perifusion chamber in direct contact with blood. The close contact with blood provides efficient nutrient supply to encapsulated islets. These devices have been shown to reverse diabetes in multiple animal models including rats, dogs and monkeys [50, 51]. However, this method requires a strong anticoagulant drug therapy for the prevention of a fatal thrombus generation upon the direct contact of a foreign material with blood. The high risk of an embolism shifted to

the focus to *extravascular macroencapsulation* involving either a disk or tubular biomaterial membrane for islet encapsulation. These devices can be transplanted into the peritoneal cavity, subcutaneous tissue, or under the kidney capsule. Issues associated to these devices include biocompatibility problems as well as insufficient nutrient supply to the encapsulated islets [9]. The most explored immunoisolation approach is *microencapsulation*, in which a few islets are encapsulated within a biomaterial and implanted extravascularly. Microcapsules exhibit superior mass transport properties over conventional macro-devices with a higher surface area per unit volume ratio. However, large void volumes by standard capsules, commonly 400-800µm in diameter, impose significant transport limitations of nutrients, particularly with the supply of oxygen. *Nanoencapsulation* incorporates the direct engraftment of a polymer onto the islet surface to form a molecular immunoprotective coating. The reduced barrier diffusional distance to 20-70µm dramatically improves nutrient supply to the islets as well as ease with intraportal delivery, and has shown promising results in both small and large animal models [52-57]. Nevertheless, the unfounded long-term stability of polymeric coatings limits their widespread applicability.

3.3.1 Microencapsulation

Microencapsulation of cells has been an extensively explored approach to immunoisolate transplanted tissue from the host immune system. The idea behind this approach is to protect foreign cells from the host immune system using an artificial, biocompatible biomaterial. The typical process of microencapsulation involves isolating cells, suspending them within a matrix, such as an alginate solution, and dripping the suspension into a gelation solution, such as divalent cation solution for alginate, to form porous hydrogel microcapsules encasing the islets. This technique has many potential therapeutic applications including the treatment of chronic pain, Parkinson's disease and diabetes.

Many groups have studied the use of hydrogels for the encapsulation of cells over the past two decades. The biocompatibility of hydrogel membranes has made them a particularly attractive option in the use of microcapsules. The hydrophilic nature of the material reduces the protein absorption and cell adhesion with the absence of interfacial tension between the material and surrounding fluids [58]. Additionally, the pliable nature of hydrogels minimizes any abrasiveness to surrounding tissue [59, 60]. The most frequently used hydrogel materials for cellular encapsulation are alginate [61] and agarose [62].

Alginate has been the most widely used material for microcapsule formation. Alginate is a collective term of a family of polysaccharides primarily derived from brown algae [63]. Alginate molecules are linear binary copolymers of β -D-mannuronic (M) and α -L-guluronic (G) acids with a variation of sequential arrangement and composition depending on the source from which they were isolated. Alginates with a high-G (more than 60% G) composition have been shown to form highly permeable, stable gels when compared to high-M (less than 40% G) content materials [64]. Furthermore, gels of a high-G content maintain improved stability with less swelling and shrinking in ionic solutions [65]. On the other hand, when using a polycation outer coating, such as poly- Llysine (PLL), the intermediate-G or low-G alginates have been shown to be more stable than high-G alginates [66, 67]. In addition, high-M alginates create less porous beads with increased biodegradability, although an increased presence of swelling and shrinking is observed during ionic crosslinking [65].

A divalent cation solution, typically containing calcium or barium, is used to form rigid, biocompatible beads from alginate droplets. An ionic cross-link is formed between the carboxylic acid group (i.e. guluronic acids), found on the polymer backbone, and the cation [68]. The gel strength depends on a number of factors including polymer purity, polymer molecular weight, cross-linking ion and ion concentration, and gelation time [64]. Barium, in particular, has been shown to form stronger cross links with alginate, in turn producing stronger gels when compared to calcium [69]. For instance, Calciumalginate beads were coated with a polycation layer to increase capsule stability in physiological solutions. While successful transplants have been shown with Bariumalginate capsules in the absence of a polycation layer [70]. The type of alginate is also crucial in the effects of the cross-linking cation. For example, stronger gel formation with barium was observed with high-G content alginates and not with high-M alginates [71]. However, most alginate gels, in the absence of additional polycation coatings, are not stable long-term due to the slow leakage of the cations out of the capsule over time [72, 73]. Thus, the alginate composition, polycation outer layering, and divalent cation solution all play a role in tailoring a capsule for a specific application. In addition, the incorporation of covalent linkages within microcapsules has also been explored (see Covalent Crosslinking section for details).

A polycation coating, most commonly PLL, originally applied to provide an immunoprotective outer membrane, has been shown to improve capsule stability [74]. Alginate capsules coated with a polycation layer exhibit reduced swelling and enhanced

long term stability. However, a major drawback of PLL is its possible toxicity to cells, activation of macrophages and complement systems, and induction fibrosis [75-77]. Therefore, while the addition of polycation membranes improves the stability and immunoprotective properties of standard alginate capsules, the use these capsules *in vivo* tend to lead to an accelerated fibrotic response.

Microencapsulated islets have shown much success in vivo with an improved graft survival and function over unencapsulated islets. Alginate-based capsules for treatment of diabetes in vivo were originally described by Lim and Sun in 1980. This study involved transplanting microencapsulated islets into streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. The study exhibited a complete correction of the condition for up to 3 weeks, while the morphology and functionality of the cells was maintained for over 15 weeks [61]. Since then numerous studies have showed promising results including the transplantation of PLL-alginate microcapsules exhibiting long-term success in both diabetic dogs [47] and some promise in human patients [48]. Furthermore, Sun et al. showed induced normoglycemia without immunosuppression up to 800 days with the transplantation of encapsulated porcine islets into spontaneously diabetic monkeys [78]. Another report exhibited graft survival up to 7 months of human and rat xenografts transplanted into immunocompetent mice [79]. In addition, Soon-Shiong et al. showed a 9 month graft survival of microencapsulated islets from which established complete normoglycemia of human patients [48].

Currently, two clinical trials involving the transplantation of microencapsulated islets are in progress. A group in New Zealand, called Living Cell Technologies (LCT), is undergoing Phase I/IIA clinical trials in Russia with the xenogenic transplant of alginate

microencapsulated porcine islets with no long-term immunosuppression. Another company, AmCyte, in Santa Monica, CA is performing clinical trials microencapsulated allogenic human islets without long-term immunosuppression. This trial is underway at the Toronto General Hospital (TGH) in Toronto, Canada.

While tremendous success has been shown for islet microencapsulation in small animal models, the translation of these promising results to larger animal models has been limited. The scalability of this design has been a significant hindrance to clinical applicability. Specifically, the volume of the transplanted tissue can increase by as much as 350-fold when transplanting to larger rather than smaller animal models. Another issue surrounding the microencapsulation of islets is the large void volume, for nutrients, particularly oxygen, to travel to reach the islet cells. While much improved over macrocapsules, the typical capsule diameter ranging from 400-800 µm continues to exhibit mass transport limitations [80]. In comparison, the oxygen demand of islets is 10^6 fold higher than chondrocytes and 10^4 fold higher than endothelial cells [81-83]. Additionally, mathematical models have shown oxygen concentrations to decrease radially in cylindrical and spherical devices from islet consumption, with high concentrations on the perimeter [80]. Thus, if oxygen levels are low at the transplant site the cell densities must be reduced as device diameter increases to minimize hypoxia to cells in the center.

Microencapsulation has shown potential for the protection of transplanted islets from the host immune system with a semi-permeable alginate membrane. In addition, microencapsulation cultivates hope for the use of xenogenic and/or nonhuman tissue sources for insulin-producing cells for the treatment of patients with T1DM. Prior to wide spread application, however, several problems need to be addressed such as biocompatibility, long-term stability, inflammatory responses, indirect immune recognition via indirect antigen pathways, and inadequate oxygen and nutrient transport. This thesis work aims to address the long-term stability and biocompatibility issues by converting traditional alginate ionic bonds to covalent linkages in a highly cellcompatible manner, as well as utilizing only highly biocompatible polymers within the microcapsule.

3.3.2 Nano-scale encapsulation

Nanoencapsulation has been investigated as a means to mask immunological response with barrier fabrication, while avoiding the transport limitations created by standard microcapsules. This technique involves grafting a polymeric material directly onto the cellular surface. Several approaches have been effective in the fabrication of nanoscale layers onto spherical surfaces, including: PEGylation, layer-by-layer self assembly via polyionic or lipid layers, and covalent conjugation, see Figure 3-2. PEGylation is characterized by modifying a surface with a conformal, covalently linked PEG coating. On the other hand, when looking at multilayer coatings, the simplest method of fabricating multiple nano-scale layers is the self-assembly technique, either through polyelectrolyte or membrane-mimetic self assembly. Polyelectrolyte layer-by-layer (PE-LbL) self assembly is based on the principle of electrostatic attraction between opposite charges, initiated by alternating adsorption of anionic and cationic polyelectrolytes [84-86]. An additional method of self-assembly is the coating of lipid

membranes, or membrane-mimetic thin films, onto surfaces. Lastly, covalent conjugation is another alternative for developing multi-layer conformal coatings, and this method offers the ability to crosslink upon each layer fabrication.

Polymers typically used for the fabrication of nano-scale layers are not applicable for direct coating of cell surfaces, due to the use of cytotoxic polymers and solvents. Therefore, a focus of nanoencapsulation techniques for cellular coating is the translation of techniques from a benign surface to application on a viable cell surface. Several researchers have developed techniques for fabricating conformal, polymeric layers directly on to the islet surface. These applications will be discussed further in subsequent sections.



Figure 3-3. Overview of methods used to create nano-layers on cell surfaces: A. PEGylation; B. polyelectrolyte layer-by-layer self assembly; C. lipid based and polyelectrolyte layer-by-layer self assembly; and D. covalent crosslinking.

3.3.2.1 PEGylation

The most widely applied method for nano-scale coating on islets has been the PEGylation of the islet surface through the use of high molecular weight poly(ethylene glycol), PEG, polymers. PEGylation, a term used to describe the chemical conjugation of a PEG polymer to a surface, is commonly used to disguise foreign materials, such as implanted devices, from the host. PEG polymers have been shown to be stable, biocompatible, non-adhesive, and highly soluble molecules within biological

environments [87, 88]. The unique characteristics of PEG include its minimal interfacial free energy with water, high surface mobility, and steric barrier capabilities [89, 90]. The pharmaceutical industry has a well established history of utilizing PEG polymers to increase drug efficacy. For instance, PEG conjugated proteins have been shown to increase protein stability [91, 92], solubility [90, 93-95], and in vivo circulating half-life [96-98]. Additionally, PEG attachment has been shown to protect against enzymatic degradation [93, 99, 100], as well as to reduce the immunogenicity [93-95, 101-103], antigenicity [88, 93, 94, 101] and toxicity of the protein [104]. Protein modification with a PEG of a higher molecular weight and branched structure has also been shown to decrease immunogenecity and antigenicity of proteins as compared to a lower molecular weight and a linear polymer chain [105].

The basic chemical structure of PEG is HO-(CH₂CH₂O)n-CH₂CH₂OH, with functional hydroxyl groups present on both ends of the polymer. In order to tether the PEG to the cell and/or extracellular matrix surface, the hydroxyl group at the terminal end of the PEG is covalently linked to a chemical linker (for example: cyanuric chloride, succinimidyl propionate, benzotriazolylcarbonate, or tresylchloride) capable of covalently binding to functional groups common to the cell or extracellular matrix surface, such as amines. The most common tethering group is succinimidyl propionate, which binds to lysine residues, commonly found on both transmembrane proteins on the cell surface and on many extracellular proteins, such as collagen and elastin [106]. The conjugation of succinimidyl propionate functionalized PEG to free amine groups has no detrimental side effects and forms a generally stable amide bond [107, 108]. Due to potential reactivity with the PEG polymer, the second terminal hydroxyl group (i.e. the one exposed following linkage to the cell surface) is typically replaced by a methyl group, creating a methoxypoly(ethylene glycol) (mPEG) [106].

The pliable nature of PEG allows for synthesis of numerous forms including a wide range of molecular weights, in addition to the fabrication of single chain and multiple branched polymers. A surrounding hydration zone formulated by the hydrophilic PEG polymer attachment generates a steric hindrance. The zone of hydration has been shown to mask the antigenic factors associated with an antibody-mediated immune activation, but it depends largely on the molecular weight and shape of the polymer [109-111]. Scott et al. demonstrated linear, higher molecular weighted (i.e. greater than 20 kDa) PEG chains provide a larger hydration zone with greater immune protection by more effectively masking antigenic sites. Moreover, branched, highly dense PEG polymer chains [109-111]. Cell surface modification with PEG polymers has also been proven to inhibit the binding of immunoglobulins and white blood cells (WBC) [109-111]. In addition, PEG attachment has been shown to prohibit the cell-cell interactions necessary for T cell activation, as well as altering cell surface charge [112].

Initial work on cell and tissue PEGylation was focused on the reduction of immune activation by masking the surface. While multiple cell types have been evaluated, initially this technique was applied to red blood cells (RBC) to conceal major and minor surface antigens from host antibodies, with the aim to develop a universal donor RBC as a source for blood transfusions [109-111]. PEG-cyanuric chloride conjugation to RBCs resulted in a significant reduction in agglutination, antigenic recognition, antibody binding, phagocytosis and immune cell activation [109-111, 113]. Additionally, PEG modification was shown to inhibit human monocyte recognition of both allogeneic and xenogeneic RBC transplants [109-111]. Immune cell PEGylation has also been an area of interest for many years, where T cell activation and proliferation was inhibited following PEGylation of human mononuclear blood cells [110]. In this study, they determined that the polymer coating concealed the CD28-CD80 co-stimulatory pathway [110], a pathway required for T cell activation and proliferation [114-118]. Additionally, a total loss of immunogenicity has also been exhibited with PEG altered, foreign immune cells [119].

Application of PEGylation techniques to the pancreatic islet has emerged in recent reports. Given the tendency of islets to develop free-amine rich extracellular matrix proteins on their surface in culture, the application of succinimidyl propionate functionalized PEG for masking the islet surface commonly results in a high degree of conjugation. Early reports indicated that poly(ethylene) glycol could indeed be tethered in a uniform manner on the islet surface [106, 120, 121]. Extensive research published by Lee et al established optimal parameters for the PEGylation of rat islets such as molecular weight, incubation time, and culture time [120]. In this study, they determined the optimal parameters to be a 1hr incubation time with a 5 kDa PEG. Using this PEG polymer, the integrity of the PEG coating was maintained up to 28 days in culture.

Complete surface engraftment of PEG molecules, via stable amide bonds, on the collagen matrix of pancreatic islets has been shown extensively in vitro to not inhibit cell viability or function [120-122]. For instance, Panza et al. incubated rat islets with a PEG-isocyanate (MW 5000) for 1hr, and a mitochondrial activity assessment (MTT assay)

demonstrated no significant change in viability on post-treatment culture day 1 and 5, and a slight increase in viability on day 2. Islet function was also not significantly altered when assessed by a static glucose challenge. Similarly, Lee et al. incubated rat islets with a 5 kDa mPEG-Succinimidyl propionic acid (mPEG-SPA) for 1hr with no observed change in viability or function [120]. Xie et al. conjugated porcine islets with two PEG derivatives, including monosuccinimidyl PEG (MSPEG, 2 kDa & 5 kDa) and disuccinimidyl PEG (DSPEG, 3 & 6 kDa), for immunoprotection upon xenotransplantation, where treatment with any of the four PEG types did not induce any significant changes in cell viability or function [122].

The ability of PEG to mask surface recognition and minimize immune cells activation for islets was evaluated by co-culturing islets and other cell types, including splenocytes (i.e., lymphocytes and macrophages). Lee et al. assessed immunogenecity of mPEG-SPA (MW 5000) conjugated rat islets by co-culturing them with splenocytes for 7 days, and this study demonstrated an absence of splenocyte activation and attachment [107, 123]; however, when the PEGylated islets were cultured with rat recombinant TNF- α for 7 days, an effort to represent an immune cell cytokine (i.e., TNF- α , IL-1 and IFN- γ) release, cell viability was negatively affected. On a positive note, the damage was shown to be dampened by polymer attachment when comparing the unmodified and PEGylated islets [107, 123].

Studies focused on PEGylated islet assessment in vivo have produced only moderate findings. Chen and Scott demonstrated the ability of mPEG engrafted islets to maintain normoglycaemia in a rat allograft model for approximately 9 days [106]. Similarly, Lee et al. assessed in vivo rejection for PEG-SPA coated rat islets in allogeneic
rejection models, where the average allograft survival rate for unmodified and PEGylated islets was 5 and 14 days, respectively [108]. The infiltration of immune cells was shown to be blocked by PEG surface polymers, but an indirect immune response to the cytokine release of the transplanted islets resulted in a congregation of immune cells surrounding the islet capsule along with structural and functional damage to the islet [108]. The xenotransplant study performed by Xie et al., using PEGylated porcine islets engraftment into immunocompetent diabetic mice, found moderate increases in survival time, where PEGylated islet grafts exhibited positive function for approximately 15 days [122]. These studies demonstrate that PEGylation of islets alone cannot fully protect the islets from immune attack in vivo. Promising findings were recently recorded, however, in a study involving multiple and amplified islet PEGylation. The aim of this study was to reduce immunogenicity by either increasing the amount of PEG present on the islet surface or to intensify PEG presence with the aid of a cationic polymer. The islet allografts in 3 of the 7 diabetic recipients in the multiple PEGylation group survived for 100 days, while still functioning normally [108, 124].

Given the ability of PEGylated cells to assist in dampening immune cell infiltration, the combination of PEGylated islet with additional variables into the system, such as genetic modification or immunosuppressive drugs, may significantly increase functional engraftment time. In one study, the synergistic effect of surface modification with PEG derivatives and genetic modification with Bcl-2, an antiapoptotic gene, demonstrated a significant reduction in islet loss post-transplantation [125]. Another study examining the systemic overexpression of heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), a cytoprotective agent, in combination with cell surface PEGylation also found positive effects. The induction of HO-1 prevented the early stage, non-specific inflammatory response initiated by islet transplantation [108]. Furthermore, a combination of HO-1 induction and a low dose immunosuppressive drug [1 mg/kg/day cyclosporine A (CsA)] resulted in an engraftment survival time of more than 100 days [108]. Long-term islet engraftment has been established with a combination of surface PEGylation and a low dose of immunosuppressive drugs, particularly CsA. Lee et al. have shown a rat allograft survival of greater than 100 days with daily injections of 3 mg/kg CsA for PEGylated islets. The low-dose immunosuppressive therapy was suspected to inhibit the indirect activation of immune cells typically caused by cytokine release of transplanted cells, while the PEG was postulated to inhibit host cell migration into the islet cluster [108, 124].

While preliminary studies investigating the efficiency of PEG coatings to prevent immune recognition and dampen inflammatory responses are promising, little is known about the permeability or stability of these layers. Given that cell turnover within the viable islet is expected, it is reasonable to suspect that the PEG coating on the cell surface will be endocytosed or shed after a set period of time.

3.3.3 Covalent Crosslinking

Covalent crosslinking of polymers has been explored, indirectly and directly, to enhance capsule stability, while also implementing polymers to improve capsule biocompatibility and immunogenicity. Indirect methods of covalent bond formation include glutaraldehyde, oxidization, carbodiimide, UV irradiation and elevated temperature [126-130]. Direct methods generate bond formation in situ with alternating layers of polymers containing complimentary reactive functional groups [131-138].

Recent studies used a photopolymerizable group, such as methacrylate group, onto the alginate to form photo-crosslinked microcapsules [139, 140]. A modified approach involved the chemoenzymatic alteration of the alginate block sequence to bind methacrylate groups exclusively on M residues, while maintaining enough G groups for gel formation [141], and used a controlled photoactivated reaction to increase stability. The beads were shown to have high stability, increased mechanical strength and compatibility with human pancreatic islets [142]. In addition, multifunctional hydrogels have been developed via the sequential photopolymerization of PEG hydrogel layers for islet encapsulation [143]. The advantages of UV irradiation, or photopolymerization, are the lack of cytotoxic agents, temperature changes, and large shifts in pH [144]; however, the generation of free radicals to induce polymerization presents a problem when translating to islet encapsulation. Islet cells are particularly susceptible to oxidative stress because of there relatively low anti-oxidant pool. Furthermore, free radicals have been shown to be detrimental to islets when compared to other cell types, and multiple studies have employed free radical scavengers for the protection of islets [145-148]. Furthermore, islet loss has been observed upon application of photoinitiated reactions [80].

On another note, direct methods involving the simultaneous covalent conjugation to form multilayer capsules have been explored to improve upon the interactions of indirect methods. The fabrication of covalent linked multilayers has been applied on several planar and spheroidal surfaces [133, 136, 138]. Additionally, the incorporation of covalent linkages has been used to improve upon microcapsule stability [149-152]. For instance, Chen et al. established a genipin cross-linked alginate-chitosan (GCAC) microcapsules consisting of an alginate core with a covalently cross-linked chitosan outer membrane [150]. Another group constructed hollow, thin membrane microcapsules with the direct covalent assembly of poly(glycidyl methylacrylate) (PGMA) and poly(allylamine hydrochloride) (PAH) [132]. The techniques used for the polymeric cross-linking within microcapsules may also prove to be translatable to multilayer assembly of nano-scale cellular coatings.

3.3.4 Chemo-selective and biocompatible covalent ligation schemes

Specialized chemo-selective ligation schemes for improved stability of microcapsules and fabrication of nano-scale layers is an advantageous resource for encapsulating islet cells. Chemoselectivity allows for the development of stable layers within a biological environment, in an absence of external catalysts, with the production of only benign by-products. In addition, chemoselectivity is required to permit reactivity within fully supplemented medium, a necessary feature when coating cells with high metabolic rates. Techniques including the Staudinger ligation and Copper-free Click chemistry schemes have been shown to produce highly chemo-selective, efficient, stable, and benign reactions suitable for cellular applications [153, 154]. Another reaction called a Michael-type reaction has also been utilized to form free radical cross-linking reactions of polymers for cellular layer applications upon photoinitiation [155, 156].

The Staudinger reaction, developed by chemist Hermann Staudinger, occurs between an azide, a class of molecules containing three nitrogen atoms, and a phosphine, a molecule containing a phosphorus atom. Two nitrogen atoms are removed from the azide to form an aza-ylide. The appeal of this reaction for applications to cellular engineering was the two molecules do not react with biomolecules and readily react with each other at room temperature in an aqueous environment [153]. However, the newly formed aza-ylide spontaneously hydrolyzes in water to yield a primary amine and the corresponding phosphine oxide [153]. Thus, although this reaction is highly chemoselective, the instability of the aza-ylide in an aqueous environment minimizes the Staudinger reaction applicability to cells.

In 2000, Carolyn Bertozzi and her student Eliana Saxon introduced the Staudinger ligation, modeled after the Staudinger reaction. The group introduced an ester molecule onto the phosphorus of the phosphine molecule created an electrophilic environment to attract and attach the nucleophilic aza-ylide. A stable amide bond resulted, thus preventing the hydrolysis of the aza-ylide molecule, see Figure 3-3 [160]. The Staudinger ligation has since been applied *in vitro* to living cell cultures, with no physiological damage [157-159]. In addition, successfully applications *in vivo* with modification of cells within living animals, for tagging and tracking disease progression, non-invasive imaging, and the general study of biological processes [160, 161].



Figure 3-4. The Staudinger Ligation. A triarylphosphine and an azide react to form an aza-ylide intermediate. An electrophillic trap, created by an attached ester molecule, binds the nucleophillic nitrogen atom. The intermediate hydrolyzes in water to form a stable amide bond.

Cellular applications of the Staudinger ligation have shown encouraging results, and its applicability to nano-scale layering or the establishment of stable microcapsules may prove to be extremely promising. Further exploration and application of this highly chemoselective reaction will prove to be beneficial in the arena of cellular encapsulation as well as other tissue engineering applications.

CHAPTER IV

Covalently linked alginate-PEG microcapsules for the immunoisolation of pancreatic islets upon transplantation

Summary

Modified alginate and PEG polymers have been utilized to generate covalently linked alginate-PEG (XAlginate-PEG) microcapsules of high stability. The Staudinger ligation was used to inter-link an azido-functionalized alginate using a diphosphine PEG polymer. Covalent bond formation between the two polymers was verified using Fourier transform infared spectroscopy (FT-IR) and Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR). XAlginate-PEG microcapsules were formed by co-incubation of the two polymers, followed by ionic cross-linking of the alginate using barium ions. The enhanced chemical and mechanical stability of the resulting XAlginate-PEG microbeads were evaluated using ion-free and chelating solutions. Osmotic swelling of XAlginate-PEG microbeads following exposure to ion free water was minimal, 5% increase in bead diameter, compared to traditional Alginate-Barium beads, which exhibited a 24% increase. Chemical stability of covalent bond formation was verified following stability of gels upon the exposure highly concentrated chelating solution. In vitro studies of the novel beads exhibited high compatibility with mouse insulinoma cell lines, as well as rat and human pancreatic islets. A mitochondrial activity assay showed a 219% and 195% increase in cell number on day 2 and a 640% and 510% cell increase on day 7 of encapsulated MIN6 cells in XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium. Viability assessment of XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium encapsulated Lewis rat islets exhibited no significant difference between the two groups. Similarly, mitochondrial evaluation of entrapped human islets showed no significant difference between the covalently linked beads and traditional alginate capsules. In addition, a functional assessment showed the encapsulated islets' ability to secrete insulin upon a glucose challenge with no disparity between the two groups. The remarkable improved stability, as well as demonstrated cellular compatibility, of the XAlginate-PEG beads makes them an appealing option for a wide variety of applications.

4.1 Overview

Microencapsulation of cells has been an extensively explored approach to achieve immunoisolation of transplanted cells, where the goal is to protect foreign cells from the host immune system using artificial, biocompatible biomaterials. This technique has been applied to treat a wide variety of diseases including the encapsulation of dopamineproducing adrenal chormaffin cells for Parkinson's disease [162] and parathyroid cells for hypocalcemia [163]. However, much attention has been directed to microencapsulation of the insulin-producing islet cells for treatment of Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus (T1DM). Multiple studies have shown temporary reversal of diabetes upon the transplantation of microencapsulated islets [23, 47, 48, 164].

Alginate has been the most widely used material for microcapsule formation. Alginate is a collective term of a family of polysaccharides derived primarily from brown algae [63]. Alginate molecules are linear binary copolymers of β -D-mannuronic (M) and α -L-guluronic (G) acids, with a variation of sequential arrangement and composition depending on their source. The gelation of alginate beads relies upon the presence of a divalent cation (typically Ca²⁺ or Ba²⁺); however, an ionically bonded alginate hydrogel lacks the stability and immunoprotective capabilities to withstand the mechanical and chemical strains as well as immune and inflammatory responses associated with transplantation and engraftment [74].

Improvements to long-term stability of alginate microcapsules have been made with the application of a polycation layer on the alginate surface. The polycation layer, most commonly poly-L-lysine (PLL), has been shown to dramatically increase bead stability [74]. The allograft transplantation of PLL-alginate microcapsules has shown long-term success in both diabetic dogs [47] and patients with T1DM [48]. The use of PLL, however, has been shown to be toxic to cells, to activate macrophages and complement systems, and to induce fibrosis [75-77]. Thus, there is a strong need to fabricate biopolymers capable of forming more stable and biocompatible microcapsules without immunogenicity.

A covalently-linked alginate-PEG microcapsule may prove to be an appealing option for the transplantation of pancreatic islet cells. A previously proposed technique, utilizing an indirect method for developing a covalent bond, included grafting a photopolymerizable group, such as methacrylate group, onto the alginate to form photocrosslinked microcapsules [139, 140]. A modified approach involved the chemoenzymatic alteration of the alginate block sequence to bind methacrylate groups exclusively on M residues, while maintaining enough G groups for gel formation [141], and a controlled photoactivated reaction was applied to increase stability [142]. The beads were shown to have high stability, increased mechanical strength and compatibility with human pancreatic islets [142]; however, the process of photopolymerization has been shown to result in significant islet cell loss [80].

The Staudinger ligation was used to form our covalently linked alginate-PEG polymer capsule. The reacting groups included an azide, a class of molecules containing three nitrogen atoms, and a phosphine, a molecule containing a phosphorus atom. These molecules have been shown to be highly chemoselective, react efficiently with each other, and non-detrimental to cells [153, 161].

In this study, we have characterized XAlginate-PEG microcapsules, covalently cross-linked with the Staudinger Ligation scheme. To generate these cross-links, the carboxylic groups of a linear MVG alginate chain were modified via covalent linkage with an azide using a PEG linker, see Figure 4-1. The complimentary phosphine group was tethered to both terminal end of a poly (ethylene glycol) (PEG) chain, see Figure 4-2. Following incubation of the polymers in solution, the azide groups on the alginate react with the phosphine groups on the PEG chain to form a covalently crosslinked gel, termed XAlginate-PEG. The stability of this XAlginate-PEG gel in the form of microcapsules was assessed, as well as the gels ability to encapsulate cells. The MIN6 β -cell line, an insulinoma cell line derived from a transgenic mouse, was used to observe cell viability and growth within the XAlginate-PEG beads. In addition, both rat and human pancreatic islets were encapsulated and their viability and function were monitored within the novel microbeads.



Azide-PEG-Alginate-PEG-Azide

Figure 4-1. Schematic of Alginate-PEG₃₂₆-N₃, **Azide-Alg [1]** synthesis. The carboxylic groups of a highly purified MVG alginate are activated with ethylene diamino carbodiamide (EDC). An amine molecule is used a stable amide-linkage between the azide and the alginate chain.



Figure 4-2. Schematic of Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) Diphosphine, **2DiP-PEG [5]** synthesis. The terminal hydroxyl groups of a PEG chain were functionalized with amine molecules. Two triphosphine molecules were covalently attached to the PEG with an N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) chemical linker.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 General Reagents

All chemical reagents were of analytical grade, obtained from commercial suppliers, and used without further purification unless otherwise noted. The solvents and other chemical reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich at the highest purity available.

4.2.2 Polymer Characterization

Polymer purity and functionalization was assessed using ATR-FT-IR, mass spectroscopy, and ¹H-NMR. ATR-FT-IR spectra were obtained using the PerkinElmer Spectrum 100 FT-IR Spectrometer with the Universal ATR (1 bounce, Di/ZnSe) Sampling Accessory. UV-Vis spectra were obtained using the Molecular Devices SpectraMax M5 Microplate/Cuvette Reader. Samples were submitted to the University of Miami Chemistry Department for mass spectroscopy (VG Trio-2 FAB or Bruker Bioflex IV Maldi-TOF) and ¹H-NMR (Bruker, 500 MHz) analysis.

4.2.3 Synthesis and characterization of Alginate-PEG₃₂₆-N₃, Azide-Alg [1]

Ultra purified sodium alginate of high molecular weight, high guluronic acid content alginate (UP-MVG) %G, (NovaMatrix, Pronova Biomedical, Norway) was used as the base polymer for azide functionalization and for control studies of standard alginate capsules.

N₃-PEG₃₂₆-NH₂ [2], the functional group added to [1], was fabricated via Ts-PEG₃₂₆-Ts [3] and N₃-PEG₃₂₆-N₃ [4] polymer precursors. [3] was prepared by tosylation (Ts) of both hydroxyl end groups of PEG, MW_{average} of 326 (Sigma). HO-PEG₃₂₆-OH (2.4g) was dried by stirring under vacuum at 75°C for 1hr. After cooling to room temperature (RT, 21-22 °C), the dry PEG oil was dissolved in 3mL anhydrous dichloromethane (DCM) followed by slow (within 10 min) addition of a freshly prepared solution of 3.94g (20.46mmol) p-toluenesulfonyl chloride and 2.80g (22.69mmol) 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine (DMAP) in 10mL anhydrous DCM, followed by stirring at RT for 3 h. The resulting mixture was washed once with a 30mL mixture of water/ice/1mL HCl (36.8 %) and once with 20mL saturated NaHCO₃ solution containing some ice. The resulting organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na_2SO_4 , filtered through a silica gel pad, and the solvent removed under reduced pressure. The resulting polymer, Ts-PEG₃₂₆-Ts [3] (3.90g), was added to NaN₃ (1.27g), and 4mL anhydrous N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF) and reacted for 4h at 80°C under Ar flow for 15 h at RT (21-22°C). Following incubation time, diethyl ether (20mL) was added. Insoluble salts were removed by filtration through a $0.45\mu m$ polypropylene filter, diethyl ether was removed under reduced pressure, and the DMF was removed by short-path distillation at 80 °C with help of Ar flow. The residue was dissolved in 20mL diethyl ether and passed through a silica gel pad. The diethyl ether was removed under reduced pressure. The product, N₃-PEG₃₂₆- N_3 [4] was dried first by Ar-flushing and then under reduced pressure. A solution of Ph_3P (1.06g) in 9mL of 50% (v/v) diethyl ether in ethyl acetate was slowly (within 1h) added to a solution of N₃-PEG₃₂₆-N₃ (1.5g), 50% (v/v) diethyl ether (4.5mL) in ethyl acetate, and 0.5M HClaq (9mL) under Ar-flow and rapid stirring. Solution was then stirred for 19 h at RT. The aqueous phase was collected and made basic with addition of 6M $NaOH_{aq}$ (1.0mL). The solution was then cooled in ice-water bath for 2h while bubbling Ar, passed through a 0.45µm polypropylene filter, and extracted 7 times with 3mL dichloromethane (DCM). All combined DCM was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, passed through a silica gel pad, and DCM removed under reduced pressure followed by Ar-flushing. Method as outlined resulted in 1.0g of N₃-PEG₃₂₆-NH₂ [2].



Scheme 1. Synthesis of PEG linker. (i) TsCl, DMAP, DCM; (ii) NaN₃, DMF; (iiia) Ph₃P HCl-H₂O/Et₂O-EtOAc; (iii b) Ph₃P, THF/water

То fabricate alginate-PEG₃₂₆-N₃ [1], sodium alginate (50mg), Nhydroxysuccinimide (14mg, 0.12mmol), and 2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid (62mg, 0.29mmol) were dissolved in 5mL de-ionized water. A solution of N₃-PEG₃₂₆-NH₂ [2] (28mg, 0.08mmol) in 200µL H₂O was added. After stirring for 10min at RT, 1ethyl-(dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC) was added and stirring continued for 25min at RT. The amount of EDC added varied from 56mg to 110mg, depending on the degree of functionalization desired. For this study, it was found that the addition of 110mg of EDC resulted in the highest degree of N₃-PEG₃₂₆-NH₂ functionalization of the alginate chain. This alginate, [1c], was used for all encapsulation experiments. Following incubation, 55µL of 6 M NaOH was added and stirred for an additional 10 min. Purification was achieved by (at least) 4 days dialysis (10,000 MWCO membrane) against 600mL water changed three times a day. During the first 3 days, 10µL of 6M NaOH was added twice daily to the alginate-containing solution and mixed. During the first 2 days, 400µL 4.26M NaCl was also added twice a day to the alginate solution and mixed. Finally, solution was filtered through a 0.45µm membrane and lyophilized. The yield was 52.8mg of a white, foamy, solid film. The Kaiser test was negative. ATR-FT-IR: 3279, 2924, 2879, 2112, 1658 (shoulder), 1600, 1548 (shoulder), 1408, 1349, 1299, 1124, 1085, 1026 cm⁻¹.

Alginate
$$\left(\bigcup_{\substack{O \\ O \\ Na}} \right)_n \xrightarrow{i}$$
 Alginate $\left(\bigcup_{\substack{N \\ H}} \right)_{n-x} = Alginate \left(\bigcup_{\substack{N \\ H} \right)_{n-x} = Alginate (\bigcup_{\substack{N \\ H} \right)_{n-x} = Algin$

Scheme 2. Functionalization of alginate [1]. (i) EDC.HCl, NHS, NH₂-PEG₃₂₆-N₃

4.2.4 Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) Diphosphine Synthesis, 2DiP-PEG [5]

Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) Diphosphine, called 2DiP-PEG [5] was fabricated from the starting PEG polymer of NH₂-PEG₃₄₁₉-NH₂. Functionalization of the end units of the PEG was achieved by first fabricating the phosphine group, or 1-Methyl-2-Diphenylphosphino-Terephthalate (MDT) [6]. [6] was fabricated by the addition of 1-Methyl-2-aminoterephthalate (1.0g, 5.10mmol) to 10mL of cooled HCl and stirred 10 min. NaNO₂ (0.36g, 5.22mmol) in 2.3mL water was injected slowly (within 5min) through a sealed rubber septum into the HCl mixture while stirring (an orange gas formed). After 5min, the mixture was removed from the ice-water bath and stirred 25min at RT. The resulting mixture was passed through glass wool and 0.45µm polypropylene (pp) membrane filter into a stirring solution of (8.6g, 51.7mmol) KI and 14mL water (mixture turns dark red with red-black precipitate). After stirring for 1h at RT, the solution was mixed with 40mL DCM and 35mL of 1.57 M (55.0mmol) Na₂SO₃. The DCM phase was collected and washed once with 35mL of 4.28M NaCl solution. The DCM phase was collect, dried over anhydrous Na2SO4, filtered (0.45µm, pp membrane), and DCM removed under reduced pressure. The yellow solid residue was dissolved in 6mL methanol and filtered (0.45 μ m, pp membrane). The product was precipitated by adding 4mL water, cooling 1h in ice-water bath, and stirring. It was collected by filtration and freeze-dried overnight to yield 832.0mg of a yellow solid powder of 1-Methyl-2-Iodoterephthalate [7]. A flame dried/Ar-flushed Schlenk tube was loaded with [7] (750 mg, 2.4506 mmol), Pd(Ac)₂ (5.5mg, 0.0242 mmol), 1.3-bis(diphenylphosphino)propane (10.0mg, 0.0242mmol), anhydrous acetonitrile (7.5mL), and N,N'-diisopropylethylamine (900µL, 5.1465mmol). The mixture was stirred until fully dissolved and degassed

(freeze-pump-thaw method). Diphenylphosphine (425µL, 2.4204mmol) was injected (drop-wise) into the acetonitrile solution under Ar flow (solution turned red and clear). The solution was refluxed for 4h under Ar pressure (balloon), cooled to RT (or incubated overnight at RT), and concentrated under reduced pressure. The red sticky residue was dissolved in 5mL DCM and washed once with 50mL water and 25mL 1M HCl. The DCM was removed under reduced pressure. The product was recovered by washing the red-yellow solid residue with 6mL cold methanol, rinsed 5 x 1.5mL cold methanol, and filtration. After drying under reduced pressure, 0.638 g of a yellow solid powder of MDT [6] was obtained, $MW_{found} = 364.00$; $MW_{calculated} = 364.33$. DiP-PEG [7] was formed by the addition of N,N'-Diisopropylcarbodiimide (22.52µL, 0.1440mmol, DIC) to a solution of MDT [6] (52.8mg, 0.1449mmol) and N-hydroxysuccinimide (17.2mg, 0.1465mmol) in 1.2mL anhydrous/Ar-flushed DMF. After stirring for 30min at RT under Ar flow, NH₂-PEG₃₄₁₉-NH₂ (200mg, 0.0597mmol) was added, followed by 4-dimethylaminopyridine (14.8mg, 0.1200mmol) after 1hr. After 3hrs, stirring at RT under Ar flow, the product was precipitated with 12mL cold diethyl ether and collected by centrifugation at 0 °C. It was "crystallized" once in 10mL 200 proof ethanol (warm to 37 °C to dissolve, cool in ice-water bath to precipitate, collect precipitate by centrifugation at 0 °C). It was dissolved/precipitated/collected with 0.5mL DCM/12mL cold diethyl once ether/centrifugation at 0°C and dried under reduced pressure. The yield was 212.0mg of a white to light yellow solid powder. The Kaiser test was negative.



Scheme 3. Synthesis of Staudinger ligation phosphine. (i) HCl, NaNO₂; (ii) KI; (iii) Pd(Ac)₂, Ph₂PH, acetonitrile



Scheme 4. Synthess of bi-functional PEG **[5]** for cross-linking alginate via Staudinger ligation. (i) DIC, NHS; (ii) NH₂-PEG₃₄₁₉-NH₂, DMAP

4.2.5 Cell Culture

MIN6 cells were cultured as monolayers in T-flasks and fed every 2-3 days with fresh medium comprised of Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Sigma), 1% penicillin-streptomycin (P/S), 1% L-glutamine and 0.001 % (v/v) β -mercapoethanol. Rat pancreatic islets were isolated from male Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats using methods described elsewhere [3]. Human pancreatic islets of Langerhans were obtained from the ICR Consortium. Following isolation, islets were cultured in CMRL 1066 media for 48hrs (rat islets) or MM1 media for 24hrs following arrival (human islets) at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ in air prior to encapsulation. CMRL 1066 and MM1 media was supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Sigma), 1% penicillin-streptomycin, and 1% L-glutamine.

4.2.6 Microcapsule formation and cellular encapsulation

Standard Alginate-Barium and XAlginate-PEG microbeads were fabricated using a modification of the protocol originally developed by Sun [61]. Alginate-Barium gels were fabricated using 2.5 wt% alginate in PBS solution. Following dissolution of the alginate polymer in the saline, the polymer solution was used for microbead fabrication, as described below. XAlginate-PEG gels consisted of 2.5 wt% Azide-Alg[1] and 4.75 wt% 2DiP-PEG[5]. The solution of [1] and [5] were generated by first dissolving 3.1 wt% of [1] in saline in one vial and 23.75 wt% of [5] in another. Following complete dissolution of the polymers in saline, the solutions were mixed in a 1:1.9 ratio. The mixture of [1] and [5] were gently mixed for 1hr15mins prior to microbead fabrication (see Appendix Section 7.1 for further details on the selection of pre-incubation time frames and [1] to [5] ratios). Microbeads were prepared via needle extrusion of the alginate or XAlginate-PEG solution into a gelling basin of 50mM BaCl₂ (Sigma Aldrich) and 0.025% (v/v) Tween 20 (Sigma Aldrich) solution. The size of the droplets was controlled by a parallel airflow generator (10kPa pressure of air with a 1in distance from the needle to the gelling solution) and the manual force applied to the syringe. The beads were exposed to the gelation solution for 5min, aspirated, and then rinsed with phosphate-buffered solution (PBS) three times to remove excess barium. The average bead diameter for alginate microbeads was $460\pm13\mu$ m and $520\pm17\mu$ m for Alginate-BeG microbeads, respectively.

For microcapsules containing cells, MIN6 or islet cells were mixed in either polymer solution immediately prior to needle extrusion. MIN6 cells were harvested from monolayer cultures using trypsin-EDTA (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) and suspended in either polymer solution at a density of 1 x 10^7 cells/ml polymer solution. Viable cell counts were performed using the trypan blue (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) exclusion method. Islet cells were pelleted, media removed, and suspended in either polymer solution at a 1.5%loading density. Islet cell counts were performed prior to encapsulation using the islet equivalence (IEQ) method. Following the homogeneous distribution of the cells within extruded through the microencapsulation generator and microbeads were fabricated. Following a 5min exposure to the barium gelation solution and PBS rinse, the cellcontaining microbeads were washed in the appropriate culture media for the cell type. The beads were cultured in non-cell culture treated T75 flasks (Falcon) and rocked on an orbital plate in a humidified 37° C, 5% CO₂ / 95% air incubator for 7-8 days.

4.2.7 Stability

The stability of the barium capsules was tested using a dimensional stability assay. Five Alginate-Barium beads or XAlginate-PEG beads, initially placed in 1mL of saline for at least 1hr prior, were placed in 1mL of ion free water and observed for 70min. The stability of the capsules was monitored against time by an inverted light microscope. Dimensional changes, due to osmotic swelling, were recorded at 10min intervals. To evaluate the chemical stability of the beads, both the covalently linked and ionically linked beads were tested with an EDTA treatment, to leach out the barium ions. Five beads/group were exposed to 2mL of a 200mM EDTA solution.

4.2.8 Growth/viability measurements

The MTT assay has been shown as a means to quantify the survival and proliferation of cells [165]. Thus, encapsulated cell viability and growth was measured by an MTT assay (Promega). Approximately 100 microcapsules from each group were collected, washed twice in DPBS, and conditioned in medium with 0.5mg/ml MTT (Promega) for 1hr15min at 37°C. The capsules were then collected, crushed, the stop/solubilization solution was added, and the beads were incubated overnight. From each well, triplicates of 120µL of solution were transferred to a 96-well plate and the optical densities were measured at 570nm in a microplate reader (Molecular Devices).

The recorded absorbance for each experimental point was then correlated to either cell number (for MIN6 cells) or islet IEQ (for human and rodent cells) by correlating the absorbance to previously validated calibration curves of the respective cell type (see Appendix 7.2).

4.2.9 Measurement of Insulin Secretion

Functional assessment of encapsulated islets was tested via static glucosestimulated insulin release (GSIR) assay. Ten Alginate-Barium and XAlginate-PEG encapsulated islets were incubated within inserts in triplicates in a 24-well plate with 800µL of a basal glucose solution [Krebs-bicarbonate (KRBB) buffer: 99mM NaCl₂, 5mM KCl, 1.2mM KH₂PO₄, 1.2mM MgSO₄, 2.6mM CaCl₂, 26mM NaHCO₃, and 0.2wt% BSA supplemented with 60mg/dL glucose] for 1 hr, following by washing with basal solution. The inserts were then transferred to a new well in the 24-well plate and incubated for 1hr in 800µl of the basal solution, labeled as Basal 1. After a 1hr incubation, the inserts were drained and placed in a stimulated glucose solution (KRBB supplemented with 300mg/dL glucose) for 1hr, labeled as Stimulated 1. After an additional wash step, the islets were then placed in basal glucose solution for an additional hour, labeled as Basal 2. Samples were collected at the end of each incubation period and frozen until ELISA (Mercodia) analysis. Insulin concentration within the samples was quantified by following the manufacture's instructions. GSIR was evaluated as ratio of the level of insulin secretion during Stimulated 1 to the level of insulin secretion during Basal 1.

4.2.10 Confocal microscopy of encapsulated cells

Cells cultured in alginate/PEG-alginate beads were stained with 1-4µM Calcein AM (green dye) and 2µM EthD-1 (red dye) (Live/Dead Invitrogen) for 45min prior to observation using fluorescent confocal microscopy (Zeiss, Germany). The Live/Dead solution was prepared in DPBS. Three-dimensional (3D) images were reconstructed using projection function on LSM image browser (Zeiss, Germany) software.

4.2.11 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis performed throughout this study utilized a paired student ttest with significant differences represented by a p-value less than 0.05.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Capsule stability

The osmotic swelling of the microcapsules was evaluated by observing the dimensional changes of the beads when placed in ion free water. Traditional Alginate-Barium beads were used as controls. The presence of the covalent bonds between the [1] and [5] polymers were expected to result in a decrease in swelling of the XAlginate-PEG beads when compared to the Alginate-Barium capsules. The swelling of both empty and capsules containing cells was studied. Figure 4-1 exhibits the swelling of empty capsules as an increase in diameter over time. The Alginate-Barium reached a maximum of 24% increase in bead diameter within the first twenty minutes, while the XAlginate-PEG exhibited a maximum 5% increase in bead diameter. The XAlginate-PEG microcapsules exhibited a statistically significant decrease in swelling when compared to the standard Barium-Alginate capsules. Figure 4-2 exhibits the swelling of microbeads containing cells following incubation in ion free water. The bead diameter of both the Alginate-

Barium and XAlginate-PEG samples containing cells increased with time in water. The Alginate-Barium samples showed a maximum 41% increase in bead diameter after thirty minutes, while the XAlginate-PEG beads exhibited a maximum of 26% increase in bead diameter. The cell-filled XAlginate-PEG microcapsules exhibited a similar trend to the cell-free capsules, where a statistically significant decrease in swelling was observed when compared to the standard Barium-Alginate capsules.



Figure 4-3. Stability and swelling Alginate-Barium (open diamonds) and XAlginate-PEG (solid diamonds) microbeads in ion free water as expressed by percentage increase in microbead diameter as a function of time. Data points \pm SD represent the average of five independent measurements. *Significant differences (p<0.05) between XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium microbeads.



Figure 4-4. Stability and swelling of Alginate-Barium (open diamonds) and XAlginate-PEG (solid diamonds) MIN6 microbeads in ion free water as expressed by percentage increase in microbead diameter as a function of time. Data points \pm SD represent the average of five independent measurements. *Significant differences (p<0.05) between XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium encapsulated MIN6 cells after 30min.

The covalent bonds between the alginate and the PEG polymers were also evaluated by removal of the barium ions using a concentrated chelating solution. Microbead stability following ion removal was evaluated by observing diameter changes for both empty (Figure 4-3) and cell-filled (Figure 4-4) XAlginate-PEG capsules. Complete dissolution of the Alginate-Barium capsules was observed within 2 min following EDTA exposure, which also verified the complete removal of all ionic interactions. The XAlginate-PEG microcapsules containing cells and those not containing cells exhibited similar swelling behavior in the chelating solution. Additionally, the swelling observed for the XAlginate-PEG microcapsules following complete removal of the ionic cross-links was similar to the degree of swelling found for standard Barium-Alginate capsules in ion-free water.



Figure 4-5. Stability of XAlginate-PEG microbeads in a 200mM EDTA solution as expressed by percentage increase in microbead diameter as a function of time. Data points \pm SD represent the average of five independent measurements. *Measurement of Alginate-Barium microbeads was not feasible due to dissolution of gel 2 minutes after EDTA addition.



Figure 4-6. Stability of XAlginate-PEG MIN6 microbeads in a 200mM EDTA solution as expressed by percentage increase in microbead diameter as a function of time. Data points \pm SD represent the average of five independent measurements. *Measurement of Alginate-Barium microbeads was not feasible due to dissolution of gel 2 minutes after EDTA addition.

4.3.2 Growth/viability of cells in alginate-PEG capsules

The cellular response following alginate-PEG encapsulation was evaluated and compared to Alginate-Barium microbeads. Preliminary experiments evaluated the growth and viability of MIN6 cells within the new XAlginate-PEG beads. The proliferation of the encapsulated MIN6 cells within the XAlginate-PEG and the Alginate-Barium beads was measured as a 219% and 195% cell increase on day 2 and a 640% and 510% cell increase on day 7, respectively (Figure 4-5), illustrating an increase in cell number over the culture period. Confocal microscopy of cross sections of the beads containing cells stained using the live/dead assay, supported the mitochondrial activity findings, where an increase in the number and size of the cell clusters within the microcapsules was

observed for both polymer configurations over time (Figure 4-6). In addition, these images showed a homogeneous distribution of MIN6 cells throughout the capsule.



Figure 4-7. Growth/viability of MIN6 cells encapsulated with XAlginate-PEG (solid bars) or Alginate-Barium (open bars), as assessed using MTT. Results are presented as the % increase in cell number as a function of time. Data points represent the mean \pm SD, for the MTT assay for 100 beads. *Significant differences (p<0.05) between XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium encapsulated MIN6 cells.



Figure 4-8. Confocal images of encapsulated MIN6 cells stained using Live/Dead fluorescent kit where live cells are labeled green and dead cells are labeled red (see Methods for details). Top row (A): XAlginate-PEG encapsulated MIN6 cells on Day 1 (a); Day 3 (b); and Day 7 (c) post-encapsulation. Bottom row (B): Alginate-Barium encapsulated MIN6 cells on Day 1 (a); Day 3 (b); and Day 7 (c) post-encapsulation.

Lewis rat islets were adequately encapsulated by the two gel solutions with 1-2 islets per bead, as illustrated by the representative confocal images (Figure 4-7). Confocal microscopy three-dimensional reconstructions of live/dead stained cells illustrate high percentage of viable cells for all observed time points and polymeric configurations (Figure 4-7). The XAlginate-PEG and the Alginate-Barium beads exhibited 140 and 128 islets per a hundred beads, respectively, on day 1 and 212 and 260 islets per a hundred beads on day 5 using the previously described MTT assay (Figure 4-8), which is a statistically significant increase in mitochondrial activity between the two time points.



Figure 4-9. Confocal images of encapsulated Lewis rat islets stained using Live/Dead fluorescent kit where live cells are labeled green and dead cells are labeled red (see Methods for details). Top row (A): XAlginate-PEG encapsulated Lewis rat islets on Day 1 (a); Day 5 (b); and Day 8 (c) post-encapsulation. Bottom row (B): Alginate-Barium encapsulated Lewis rat islets on Day 1 (a); Day 5 (b); and Day 8 (c) post-encapsulation.



Figure 4-10. Assessment of Lewis rat islet viability following encapsulation with Alginate-Barium (open bars) or XAlginate-PEG (solid bars), as measured using MTT. Values are presented as the number of rat islets per 100 beads. Data points represent the mean \pm SD, for the MTT assay for 100 beads.

Human pancreatic islets were adequately encapsulated by the two solutions with 1-2 islets per bead (Figure 4-9). Confocal microscopy of live/dead stained cells exhibited highly viable islets. The cells entrapped by the XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium exhibited 137 and 132 islets per a hundred beads on day 1 and 100 and 159 islets per a hundred beads on day 5, based on MTT (Figure 4-10). While the change from day 1 to day 5 of the MTT readings was not statistically significant within polymer types, human islets within the XAlginate-PEG demonstrated a statistically significant decrease in calculated islet IEQ when compared to Barium-Alginate capsules on day 5.



Figure 4-11. Confocal images of encapsulated human islets stained using Live/Dead fluorescent kit where live cells are labeled green and dead cells are labeled red (see Methods for details). Top row (A): XAlginate-PEG encapsulated human islets on Day 1 (a); Day 5 (b); and Day 8 (c) post-encapsulation. Bottom row (B): Alginate-Barium encapsulated human islets on Day 1 (a); Day 5 (b); and Day 8 (c) post-encapsulation.



Figure 4-12. Assessment of human islet viability following encapsulation with Alginate-Barium (open bars) or XAlginate-PEG (solid bars), as measured using MTT. Values are presented as the number of rat islets per 100 beads. Data points represent the mean \pm SD, for the MTT assay for 100 beads. *Significant differences (p<0.05) between XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium encapsulated islets.

4.3.3 Insulin Response to Glucose Challenge

The cellular response to glucose of both rat and human islets was measured following XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium microencapsulation via a glucosestimulated insulin release (GSIR) assay *in vitro*. This functional assessment was performed day 1 and 5 post-encapsulation. For all experiments, the insulin stimulation from Basal 1 to Stimulated 1 to Basal 2 illustrated the expected response, where Stimulated 1 levels were higher than Basal 1, and Basal 2 levels were approximately the same level as Basal 1 (data not shown). The insulin stimulation index, calculated as the ratio between stimulated over basal insulin output during GSIR, for rat islets was 7.57 and 5.40 for XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium on day 1, and 8.58 and 7.23 for XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium on day 5, respectively (Figure 4-11). There were no statistical differences observed between these indices for either polymer configuration or time point.



Figure 4-13. Insulin stimulation index of Alginate-Barium encapsulated (open bars) and XAlginate-PEG encapsulated (solid bars) Lewis rat islets. Stimulation indices were calculated, as described in the Methods section. Data points represent the mean \pm SD, for a minimum of three independent measurements at each time point (except the Day 1: Alginate-Barium was duplicates).

In addition, the insulin stimulation index for the encapsulated human islets was 2.36 and

2.29 for XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium on day 1, and 4.16 and 4.57 for

XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium on day 5, respectively (Figure 4-12). There were

no statistical differences observed between the polymeric configurations.



Figure 4-14. Insulin stimulation index of Alginate-Barium encapsulated (open bars) and XAlginate-PEG encapsulated (solid bars) human islets. Stimulation indices are calculated, as described in the Methods section. Data points represent the mean \pm SD, for a minimum of three independent measurements at each time point.

4.4 Discussion

In this study, a novel covalently linked Alginate-PEG (XAlginate-PEG) microcapsule was evaluated. Covalent crosslinking within the microcapsule was achieved by modifying the carboxylic groups, residing on the alginate chain, with azides; the azides were bound, with a stable amide linkage, to phosphine-PEG molecules via the Staudinger ligation. Co-incubation of these two polymers ([1] and [5]) resulted in stable gel formation, independent of ionic interactions, within 5 hours (see Appendix 7.1). While this covalent reaction is efficient when compared to alternative, catalyst-free ligation schemes, it is recognized that this delay might not be desirable for cellular encapsulation. To bypass this potential problem, we capitalized on the unique ability of

the functionalized alginate polymer [1] to form gels via both ionic and covalent interactions. The superiority of utilizing this method is the ability to instantaneously form a gel using standard ionic methods, followed by the "locking" of the gel form via the formation of covalent linkages between the modified alginate [1] and the PEG-diphosphine [5] over an extended time course, thereby resulting in a microcapsule of superior stability. Protocol optimization of bead formulations was performed by promoting covalent linkages between alginate and PEG polymers for multiple time periods prior to capsule formation via cationic solution (see Appendix 7.1). The balance of ionic and covalent interactions led to the fabrication of microbeads of exceptional stability and integrity.

The overall stability of the microcapsules was improved with the implementation of covalent linkages. The osmotic swelling of the novel XAlginate-PEG beads was examined by placing the beads in ion-free water, and comparing dimensional changes to traditional alginate beads. Empty, XAlginate-PEG beads exhibited significant less swelling when compared to traditional alginate (Alginate-Barium) beads. In addition, although both the Alginate-Barium and XAlginate-PEG samples containing cells swelled over time, the XAlginate-PEG capsules exhibited significantly less dimensional changes invoked by osmotic swelling. The minimization of swelling may impose less stress on the encapsulated islets, resulting in improved graft function and viability [65].

The incorporation of covalent linkages within the capsule also prevents the slow degradation of capsule integrity upon long-term culture *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The chemical stability of the XAlginate-PEG and Alginate-Barium capsules was examined using a strong chelating solution to simulate conditions of long-term culture, where the cations

slowly leak over time, resulting in a disruption of ionic interactions [166]. The empty, covalently linked capsules remained completely intact, exhibiting exceptional stability, upon exposure to the strong chelating solution, while the ionically bound capsules showed complete dissolution within two minutes of exposure. In addition, the XAlginate-PEG beads exhibited swelling upon exposure to the chelating solution, which was expected due to the removal of the ionic linkages used to initially form the capsule. Similar results were observed with capsules containing cells. Thus, a complete removal of ionic interactions leads to the complete loss of traditional alginate capsules, while the integrity and stability of the newly developed XAlginate-PEG capsules was maintained. These results prove not only the formation of covalent linkages between the [1] and [5] polymers, but also establish that these linkages are of adequate density to maintain the integrity of the capsule (see Appendix 7.1 for the results of other XAlginate-PEG configurations).

A highly chemoselective ligation scheme was developed for the covalent linkage of the two biocompatible polymers. The azide and phosphine groups readily interacted at a normal physiological pH within an aqueous environment, and exhibited no detrimental side effects on cellular function and viability. Previously developed chemo-ligation schemes, utilizing photopolymerization, have exhibited significant islet loss upon application [80]. The absence of damaging by-products in combination with the use of highly biocompatible polymers makes this reaction ideal for tissue engineering applications.

Detrimental effects on cellular viability or function with the introduction of covalent interactions was not evident. Cells entrapped within the gel matrix retained their

viability and function when in culture. The proliferating MIN6 cells were able to grow within the matrix, as demonstrated by the MTT results. Islets encapsulated in the XAlgiante-PEG beads appeared comparable to the standard microcapsules as seen with confocal images and at most time points in the MTT results. There was a disparity observed between rat and human islet viability on day 5 that poses a question of potential stress seen with long-term culture, and needs to be explored further. However, there was no discrepancy in islet function between the encapsulated rat and human islets.

The incorporation of covalent bonds within a microcapsule could prove to be highly beneficial to improve long-term stability *in vivo*. The shift from ionic to covalent linkages was shown to dramatically improve upon bead stability coupled with minimal degradation over time. This application alone may be shown to improve bead efficacy upon transplantation. In addition, the use of only highly biocompatible polymers should minimize the immune response to transplanted capsules.

The main drawback of this covalently linked microcapsule is the complexity of the polymer fabrication, and its potential difficulties for translation to large scale applications. However, superior bead stability along with highly biocompatible polymers offers significant advantage over traditional alginate capsules. Further exploration of the novel covalently linked capsule will include examining bead permeability, long-term stability, as well as a mechanical assessment and determination of *in vivo* efficacy.
CHAPTER V

Surface modification of pancreatic islets to attenuate the inflammatory response associated with islet transplantation

Summary

Transplanted islets prompt a strong inflammatory response where the cells are recognized by host immune cells as antigens, instigating detrimental cytokine secretion and immune cell proliferation leading to rejection. To prevent immune cell recognition as well as the associated inflammatory response at the time of implant, a polyethylene glycol (PEG) coating was applied directly onto the surface of human pancreatic islets. PEG was shown to dampen the activation of the coagulation cascade upon islet-blood contact in vitro using a prothrombin time test (PTT). To further evaluate the efficacy of a PEG coating, PEG value is exposed to a proinflammatory environment. The proinflammatory environment was created by adding a common macrophagic cytokine, tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α), to the culture media. Islet response was initially monitored by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) to observe the tissue factor (TF) and thrombomodulin (THB) activity of human islet cells upon cytokine exposure. Results showed a general trend in upregulation of both TF and TM. Two functional assays were developed to further explore the inflammatory response, where the TF expressed on the islet's surface was used for a generation of activated factor X (afX). and TM was used to generate activated Protein C (aPC). Uncoated islets showed a 5-fold increase in afX generation when exposed to a pro-inflammatory environment via TNF- α exposure, while TNF- α exposure to PEGylated islets exhibited no statistically significant increases. The present results show promise in the ability of PEG to dampen coagulation and mask inflammatory mediators exposed on the surface of islets, which may be of assistance in reducing islet cell immunogenicity and favor engraftment *in vivo*.

5.1 Overview

Clinical islet transplantation (CIT) has been shown to be a promising cellular therapy for the treatment of T1DM. However, significant islet loss and impaired function results from the strong host inflammatory and immunological response to the transplant [9]. Activated immune cells secrete various cytokines and cytotoxic molecules, inducing structural and functional damage to the islets [167-169]. Interleukin (IL)-1 activates T cells, which has been shown to increase IL-2 and its receptor production, contributing to the amplification of the immune response leading to rejection [170, 171]. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α) has been shown to contribute to graft rejection by increasing the molecule adhesion onto grafted tissue [172]. In addition, co-activation of the coagulation and complement systems is instigated by tissue factor and extracellular matrix presence on the islet surface, defined as an *instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction*, or IBMIR [30].

IBMIR was initially described by Bennet et al. as the co-activation of the coagulation and complement cascades as well as the rapid adhesion of activated platelets to the surface of the islet following direct contact with ABO blood [28]. Tissue factor (TF), a transmembrane protein present in subendothelial tissue, platelets, and leukocytes, is the primary instigator of coagulation cascade. TF operates as a receptor for the cleavage of factor VII to factor VIIa (fVIIa) [32, 33]. TF and fVIIa represent the extrinsic pathway of coagulation in which an inactive protease factor X is converted into the active protease factor Xa [32, 33]. The Xase complex results in a combination of fXa with

factor Va which initiates the prothrombinase complex. The prothrombinase complex is responsible for the rapid conversion of prothrombin to thrombin. In addition, the presence of thrombin activates cofactors V and VIII which form a positive feedback system to continuously generate thrombin [34]. Increased thrombin production leads to the unrestrained formation of a fibrin clot.

An integral component of the anti-coagulant pathway is thrombomodulin (TM), a membrane glycoprotein. TM binds to thrombin to form a TM-thrombin anticoagulant complex. This complex activates circulating protein C (PC). PC is a vitamin K dependent precursor of serine protease, and activated Protein C (aPC) inactivates the cofactors Va and VIIIa involved in thrombin generation [38-40]. Thus, a negative feedback system, instigated by aPC, is used to regulate thrombin generation.

Surface modification of pancreatic islets using poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) has been investigated as a means of camouflaging transplanted islets from the immune system. PEG polymers have been shown to be stable, biocompatible, non-adhesive, and highly soluble molecules within biological environments [87, 88]. The direct attachment of the polymer to the surface of transplanted tissue can possibly mask surface antigens and adhesive ligands on the islet surface to prevent surface thrombosis. Furthermore, a thin nanoscale layering on the surface allows for improved diffusivity of nutrients, and the reduced volume of the immunoprotective barrier makes this method a viable option for portal vein infusion [120].

The technique, termed PEGylation, involves tethering of a biocompatible PEG polymer to the collagen matrix of the islets surface resulting in a conformal coating of the cell. The terminal hydroxyl group of PEG is connected to a chemical linker, such as a

succinimidyl propionate. The hydroxyl group is oxidized with succinic anhydride followed by activation with N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) [9]. The activated PEG can then be conjugated to the amines of the cell surface to form a conformal coating. This method originated with applications to red blood cells [109-111], and it has since been applied to immune cells [110].

In this study, we sought to characterize PEG coatings on the islet surface, as well as evaluate the ability of PEGylation to dampen the overall inflammatory response of islets. To accomplish this objective, we evaluated the effects of molecular weight on PEG coating and the effect of the PEG coating on islet viability and function. To assess the inflammatory profile of PEGylated islets, inflammatory assays were used to evaluate the capacity of the islet surface to instigate both inflammatory and anti-inflammatory pathways. Finally, the PEGylated islets' inflammatory response to both standard and proinflammatory culture conditions was evaluated.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Cell Culture

Human pancreatic islets of Langerhans were obtained via the Islet Consortium Network (NIH ICR). Following isolation, islets were cultured MM1 media supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Sigma), 1% penicillin-streptomycin, and 1% L-glutamine for 24hrs following arrival at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ in air prior to encapsulation.

5.2.2 PEG-grafting

To modify the collagen capsule of the islet with PEG, the islets were washed twice with PBS, followed by suspension in a 11mM glucose solution containing 4 mM

N-hydroxysuccinimidyl-poly (ethylene glycol)-fluorescein isothiocyanate (NHS-PEG-FITC) (Carbomer, Inc. MW 5000 or MW 600). The suspension was incubated at 37° C in humidified air with 5% CO₂ for 1h. The PEGylated islets were washed once with PBS and once with culture medium, followed by a 1 day culture.

5.2.3 Confocal microscopy of PEGylated islets

A confocal microscope (Zeiss, Germany) was used to observe coating uniformity of PEGylated islets tagged with a FITC label. Three-dimensional (3D) images were reconstructed using projection function on LSM image browser (Zeiss, Germany) software.

5.2.4 Measurement of Insulin Secretion

Functional assessment of PEGylated islets was tested via a glucose-stimulated insulin release (GSIR) assay performed using a static column method. Approximately 100 IEQs of PEGylated islets were incubated within microchromatography columns (Biorad) in triplicates with 0.3 mL, final volume, basal glucose solution (Krebs buffer: 99 mM NaCl₂, 5 mM KCl, 1.2 mM KH₂PO₄,1.2 mM MgSO₄, 2.6 mM CaCl₂, supplemented with 60mg/dL glucose) for 1hr, followed by washing with 4mL of basal solution. The columns were then incubated for 1hr in the basal solution, and samples were then collected (Basal 1). After collection, a stimulated glucose solution (KRBB supplemented with 300mg/dL glucose), was added and the samples were incubated for 1hr. High glucose samples were collected (Stimulated 1) by adding 1mL of basal glucose solution to each column. An additional 4mL of basal solution was added to each column, eluted to 0.3mL final volume, and incubated for 1hr. The final samples (Basal 2) were collected. All insulin samples were frozen in -80°C until ELISA (Mercodia) analysis.

Insulin concentration within the samples was quantified by following the manufacture's instructions. GSIR was evaluated as ratio of the level of insulin secretion during Stimulated 1 to the level of insulin secretion during Basal 1.

5.2.5 Prothrombin Time Test (PTT)

The general inflammatory response of human islets was monitored using a prothrombin time test (PTT). This test measured the time it takes for thrombin to cleave fibrinogen to form a fibrin clot, and is monitored with a shift in absorbance over time. Islet cells were spin washed with PBS two times, and aliquoted in 250 IEQs per group. The islets were re-suspended in human plasma supplemented with sodium citrate (Diagnostica Stago), pentuplicates (50 IEQ) were placed in a 96 well plate, 50μ L of 25 mM CaCl₂ was added to each well, and the optical densities were measured every 10min for 60min at 405nm in a microplate reader (Molecular Devices). Islet cell counts were performed prior to encapsulation using the islet equivalence (IEQ) method.

5.2.6 Tumor Necrosis factor (TNF-α) Exposure

TNF- α (Chemicon International) was initially used at 20U and 10U of activity for 2-4hrs to determine appropriate concentrations and exposure time for response induction without cell death. Final parameters for evaluation of PEGylated and control islets were 10U of activity of TNF- α at a 3hr exposure time.

5.2.7 Activated factor X (afX) and activated Protein C (aPC) assay

PEGylated and naked islets of the experimental group (exposed to TNF- α) and control group were washed twice with PBS. Islet cluster cell counts were performed using the islet equivalence (IEQ) method. Triplicates of approximately 100IEQ for afX (or 500IEQ for aPC) were placed in a 24 well plate with final concentration of 10 nM fVIIa (or 1 nM α-thrombin for aPC; Haematologic Technologies) and 5 mM of CaCl₂ in a Tris-BSA buffered solution (final 20mM Tris-HCl, 100nM NaCl, 0.1 wt% BSA, 5mM CaCl₂, and 0.02% NaN₃), and incubated at 37°C in humidified air with 5% CO₂ for 10 min. A final concentration of 160nM fX (or 1 μ M PC; Haematologic Technologies) was then added to each well and incubated at 37°C in humidified air with 5% CO₂ for 1h. A stop solution (18 μ L EDTA for afX assay or antithrombin III for aPC assay; American Diagnostica) was then added to each well and incubated for 5min. The well contents were collected and spun down. Triplicates of 30 μ L of supernatant were placed in a 96 well plate. 270 μ L of 2.5 μ M afX chromogenic substrate solution (or 5 μ M aPC chromogenic substrate solution; American Diagnostica) was added to each well. The optical densities were measured at 405nm in a microplate reader (Molecular Devices).

5.2.8 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis performed throughout this study utilized a paired student ttest with significant differences represented by a p-value less than 0.05.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Analysis of PEGylated islets

The attachment of PEG to the collagen matrix of the islet surface was trialed with two different polymer lengths, a short (0.6 kDa) and a long (5 kDa) PEG chain, both labeled with FITC on one terminal end. The short PEG was shown to infiltrate into the islet and disrupt islet morphology (Figure 5-1a). On the other hand, the long PEG was grafted directly onto the islet capsule in a uniform coating, while maintaining surface morphology similar to that of free islets (Figure 5-1b).



Figure 5-1. Confocal images of PEGylated human islets with multiple PEG lengths: (a) 0.6 kDa NHS-PEG-FITC and (b) 5 kDa NHS-PEG-FITC (see Methods for details).

The insulin secretion by PEGylated islets was assessed after static incubation. Islet stimulation index values were not significantly different between cultured and short or long PEGylated islets (Figure 5-2).



Experimental Groups

Figure 5-2. Insulin stimulation index of cultured (open bar), long PEGylated (solid bar) and short PEGylated (gray bar) human islets. Stimulation assays are conducted and indices are calculated as described in the Methods section. Data points represent the mean \pm SD, for a minimum of three independent measurements at each time point.

5.3.2 PEG capabilities to inflammatory response

After treating islets with a 5 kDa PEG coating, the overall inflammatory response was evaluated using a prothrombin time test (PTT). The ¹/₂ max time (defined as clot time) was 7.5 and 9.5 minutes for unmodified and PEGylated islets (Figure 5-3), respectively, showing a significant difference between the coagulation time of the two groups.



Figure 5-3. ¹/₂ Max Time, defined as Clot Time, of human plasma (striped bar), cultured (open bar) and PEGylated (solid bar) human islets. Data points represent the mean \pm SD, for a minimum of three independent measurements at each time point. *Significant differences (p<0.05) between PEGylated and unmodified islets.

A proinflammatory environment was developed *in vitro* by using the cytokine tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α). To establish appropriate conditions to induce an inflammatory response while preventing cell apoptosis, two levels of TNF- α , 20U and 10U of activity, were cultured with naked islets for 2h or 4h. A PTT was used to observe the overall

inflammatory response to these culture conditions. The results showed a significant decrease in the time to clot with islets exposed to both 10U and 20U of TNF- α over a 4h time period (Figure 5-4). However, cell loss was observed with a 4h exposure time. Thus, the final parameters used in the remainder of the experiments were 10U of activity at a 3hr exposure time.



Figure 5-4. ¹/₂ Max Time, defined as Clot Time, of cultured human islets exposed to 10U (gray bars) and 20U (open bars) of TNF- α . Data points represent the mean ± SD, for a minimum of three independent measurements at each time point. *Significant differences (p<0.05) between unexposed and 10U TNF- α for 4hrs exposed islets.

Islet culture with TNF- α induced the expression of tissue factor (TF), a major component of coagulation, and thrombomodulin (TM), an anticoagulant controller, and was initially monitored via RT-PCR. The general trends observed showed an upregulation of both TF and TM upon TNF- α exposure (Data not shown). For a more concrete evaluation, two functional assays were tailored for monitoring coagulation and anticoagulation activity of islets exposed to TNF- α . An activated factor X (afX) assay utilized the TF expressed on the islet surface to generate production of afX. Both PEGylated and control, or unmodified, islets were evaluated (Figure 5-5). Unmodified islets exhibited a 5-fold increase in afX generation when exposed to TNF- α . PEGylated islets were found to result in no statistical increase in afX generation when exposed to TNF- α . Comparing TNF- α treated PEGylated to non-PEGylated islets found a 2-fold increase in afX induction with the non-PEGylated islets.



Figure 5-5. Fold induction of afX generation over control, or cultured human islets (HI) (open bar), of cultured HI treated with TNF- α (gray bar), PEGylated HI (solid bar), and PEGylated HI treated with TNF- α (striped bar). Data points represent the mean \pm SD, for a minimum of three independent measurements at each time point. *Significant differences (p<0.05) between cultured and PEGylated islets.

An activated Protein C (aPC) assay evaluated the ability of TM expressed on the

islet surface to generate production of aPC. Preliminary experiments showed a significant

increase in aPC generation of islets cultured with TNF- α at 2, 3, and 4hrs over control islets (Figure 5-6). PEGylated islets were not yet evaluated using this assay.



Figure 5-6. Fold induction of aPC generation over control, or cultured human islets (HI) at 0h TNF- α , at 2, 3 and 4h TNF- α exposure times. Data points represent the mean \pm SD, for a minimum of three independent measurements at each time point. *Significant differences (p<0.05) between cultured and TNF- α treated islets (2, 3 and 4h).

5.4 Discussion

In this study, a polyethylene glycol (PEG) polymer was covalently bound to the amine groups present on the collagen capsule of islets with a stable amide linkage. The intention of applying the polymer coating was to establish controls for future nano-scale applications, which would contain additional layers of polymers over the basic single PEG layer. In addition, we sought to evaluate the ability of the single PEG layer to attenuate the inflammatory response commonly associated with islet transplantation. The length of the PEG chain was shown to be a significant factor when evaluating coating

efficacy. A shorter chain (0.6kD) infiltrated the islet capsule and exhibited a disruption in islet morphology, while a longer chain (5kD) PEG attached directly to the islet capsule to form a uniform polymer coating with minimal change to islet morphology. Notable, application of both a short and long PEG did not exhibit an impairment of islets' ability to function. Due to the uniformity of the long PEG coating on the outer surface of the islet, it was the only polymer length used for subsequent testing.

Ideally, the PEG coating would completely mask the inflammatory agents present on the islet surface, which in turn would reduce islet immunogenicity in the host. A delay or total prevention of coagulation may prove to be beneficial in enhancing islet engraftment. Tissue factor (TF) [173], the initiator of the extrinsic coagulation cascade, and thrombomodulin (TM) [174], a natural anticoagulant, have been shown to be expressed by both islet endocrine cells and vascular endothelial cells within islet tissue. In this study, PEGylation of islets was shown to dampen the activation of the coagulation cascade when compared to unmodified islets.

Additionally, an evaluation of islet response to proinflammatory conditions by culturing the islets at a low-dose, controlled TNF- α exposure was performed. Initially, exposure parameters were established to generate an inflammatory response, while minimizing the induction of cell apoptosis. It has been demonstrated that endothelial cell exposure to proinflammatory agents, such as TNF- α , upregulates TF and downregulates TM. Interestingly, preliminary data indicates that islets exposed to TNF- α exhibited an upregulation of both TF and TM (data not shown).

A closer evaluation of TF and TM presence on the islet surface was evaluated with two functional assays, newly tailored for islets. They measured the amount of activated factor X (afX) and activated Protein C (aPC) generation instigated by the TF and TM present on the surface of the islet. An increased afX and aPC generation was observed upon exposing cultured islets to TNF- α . The ability of a PEG coating to mask this presence of TF on the islet surface was evaluated. PEG was shown to block the surface expression of TF with a decreased generation of afX. Due to limitations in human islet availability, aPC assessment of PEGylated islets was not included in this study, and will be explored in the future.

In summary, our preliminary data demonstrated the feasibility of establishing PEG conformal coatings and will allow for an easier transition into future nano-scale multilayering applications. Additionally, surface modification with a single layer, PEG polymer was shown to dampen activation of coagulation and minimize the generation of afX by masking the TF expressed on the surface of the islet. Further study involving the long-term assessment of PEG in culture as well as functional assay assessment upon immune cell co-incubation will improve our understanding of PEG coating efficacy.

CHAPTER VI

Thesis Discussion

Encapsulation of insulin-producing islet cells in semi-permeable polymers has the potential to improving existing outcomes for the treatment of T1DM using cell based therapies. The primary focus of this thesis was to investigate different encapsulation techniques for the immunoisolation of pancreatic islet cells to be used for transplantation. Two distinct studies were performed. The first study examined a novel, covalently linked microcapsule, and the second study evaluated a nano-scale encapsulation technique and its efficacy in attenuating an inflammatory response. The common theme within this thesis is the incorporation of covalent linkages within encapsulation applications.

The covalently linked alginate-PEG microcapsule showed superior stability over traditional alginate capsules. This was demonstrated through decreased swelling and the bead's ability to remain intact upon removal of ionic bonds. Islet clusters were shown to be adequately encapsulated and homogenously distributed throughout the capsule. In addition, proliferating cells were able to grow within the gel matrix, while quiescent cells remained undisturbed and viable. Both rat and human islets were shown to function *in vitro* during a glucose challenge. Thus, this newly developed microcapsule fosters much potential for future cellular encapsulation applications. In addition, the establishment of a highly selective chemoligation scheme of two highly biocompatible polymers may be translated to a variety of cellular applications, including nano-scale multilayering encapsulation techniques.

The second study focused on tethering a PEG polymer directly to the surface of the islet to establish a nano-scale protective barrier. The length of the polymer chain was shown to be of great importance, where a short chained PEG infiltrated the islet resulting in a disruption of islet morphology. Conversely, treatment with a longer chained PEG resulted in a uniform polymer coating on the surface of the islet with minimal disruption in islet morphology. In addition, the PEGylated islets exhibited no functional deviations when compared to unmodified islets. These findings will serve as baseline controls and set the stage for future nano-scale applications. The evaluation of PEG's ability to mask the inflammatory response of islets was also investigated. Our findings showed a single layer of a PEG polymer has the capacity to dampen blood coagulation and minimize the generation of afX by masking the TF expressed on the surface of the islet.

In summary, this thesis worked to cultivate novel encapsulation techniques as well as establish new approaches for assessing the inflammatory response of islets. These techniques may significantly improve transplant efficacy by reducing or completely eliminating the need for immunosuppressive therapy, for allogenic and/or xenogenic cellular grafts. Furthermore, the technologies evaluated in this thesis are generalized for all cell types, thereby permitting translation of techniques to alternative therapies.

Appendix

Preliminary assessment of gel formation

Ratio Azide-Alg[1] to	Incubation Time	Results	
2DiP-PEG[5]			
1:1.9	24h	Strongly Gelled (> 1:1.7)	
	5h	Gelled (> 1:1.7)	
	4h	Partially Gelled	
	2h	Crosslinking, Viscous Solution,	
		Unable to form microcapsules	
	1h15min	Crosslinking, Pliable Solution,	
		Able to form microcapsules	
1:1.7	24h	Strongly Gelled Gelled Partially Gelled	
	5h		
	4h		
	2h	Crosslinking, Viscous Solution,	
		Unable to form microcapsules	
	1h15min	Crosslinking, Pliable Solution	
		Able to form microcapsules	

Table A-1. Pre-incubation time frames and ratios of XAlginate-PEG gel formation.

Alginate	Degree of Modification	Results	Studies	Notes
Type	1-5			
	(5 is highly modified)			
K1A94 K1B101 K1B103 K1A105 K1B106	5	 2.5% 1:1.9 Microcapsules MIN6 Cells Rat Islets Human Islets Empty Macrocapsules Spaghetti 	 MIN6 Cells Live/Dead – Day 1, 5, 8 MTT – Day 1, 5 ddH₂O Swelling EDTA Exposure Lewis Rat islets Live/Dead – Day 1, 5, 8 MTT – Day 1, 5 ISR – Day 1, 5 Human islets Live/Dead – Day 1, 5, 8 	Solution thickens upon mixing
			 MTT – Day 1, 5 ISR – Day 1, 5 Empty Capsules ddH₂O Swelling EDTA Exposure 	
K1B94	4	2.5% 1:1.9SpaghettiMIN6 Cells	 MIN6 Live/Dead – Day 1 ddH₂O Swelling EDTA Exposure 	Increased swelling observed with lower modifica- tion
K1A55 K1A96 K1A98 K1B98	3	 2.5% 1:1.9 Macrocapsules MIN6 Empty 	MIN6 • Live/Dead – Day 1, 5, 8 • ddH ₂ O Swelling • EDTA Exposure Empty Capsules • ddH ₂ O Swelling • EDTA Exposure	Increased swelling observed with lower modifica- tion
K1A95	2	Not used	N/A	N/A

Table A-2. Alginate comparisons based on varying the degree of modification and studies performed.



Figure A-1. MTT Standard curve of cultured MIN6 cells.



Figure A-2. MTT Standard curve of cultured Lewis rat islets.

References

- 1. Mathis, D., V.L., and Benoist, C., *Cell death during progression to diabetes*. Nature (Lond), 2001. **414**: p. 792-798.
- 2. Hogan, A., Pileggi, A., and Ricordi, C., *Transplantation: current developments and future directions; the future of clinical islet transplantation as a cure for diabetes.* Front Biosci, 2008. **13**: p. 1192-205.
- 3. Pileggi, A., Alejandro, R., and Ricordi, C., *Clinical islet transplantation*. Minerva Endocrinol, 2006. **31**(3): p. 219-32.
- 4. Pileggi, A. et al., *Overcoming the challenges now limiting islet transplantation: a sequential, integrated approach.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2006. **1079**: p. 383-98.
- 5. Pileggi, A. et al., *Twenty years of clinical islet transplantation at the Diabetes Research Institute--University of Miami*. Clin Transpl, 2004: p. 177-204.
- 6. Shapiro, A.M. et al., *International trial of the Edmonton protocol for islet transplantation*. N Engl J Med, 2006. **355**(13): p. 1318-30.
- 7. Hirshberg, B., Rother, K.I., Digon, B.J., 3rd, Lee, J., Gaglia, J.L., Hines, K., Read, E.J., Chang, R., Wood, B.J., and Harlan, D.M., *Benefits and risks of solitary islet transplantation for type 1 diabetes using steroid-sparing immunosuppression: the National Institutes of Health experience*. Diabetes Care, 2003. **26**(3288-95).
- 8. Campbell, P.M. et al., *High risk of sensitization after failed islet transplantation*. Am J Transplant, 2007. **7**(10): p. 2311-7.
- 9. Narang, A.S., and Mahato, R.I., *Biological and biomaterial approaches for improved islet transplantation*. Pharmacol Rev, 2006. **58**(2): p. 194-243.
- 10. Serup, P., Madsen, O.D., and Mandrup-Poulsen, T., *Islet and stem cell transplantation for treating diabetes*. Bmj, 2001. **322**(7277): p. 29-32.
- 11. *Economic Costs of Diabetes in the U.S. in 2007.* Diabetes Care, 2008. **31**(3): p. 596–615.
- 12. Bailes, B.K., *Diabetes mellitus and its chronic complications*. Aorn J, 2002. **76**(2): p. 266-76, 278-82; quiz 283-6.
- Bloomgarden, Z.T., *Diabetes complications*. Diabetes Care, 2004. 27(6): p. 1506-14.
- 14. Hill, J., *Identifying and managing the complications of diabetes*. Nurs Times, 2004. **100**(34): p. 40-4.

- 16. Blom, L., Nystrom, L., and Dahlquist, G., *The Swedish childhood diabetes study*. *Vaccinations and infections as risk determinants for diabetes in childhood*. Diabetologia, 1991. **34**(3): p. 176-81.
- 17. Dahlquist, G., and Mustonen, L., *Childhood onset diabetes--time trends and climatological factors.* Int J Epidemiol, 1994. **23**(6): p. 1234-41.
- 18. Virtanen, S.M. et al., *Feeding in infancy and the risk of type 1 diabetes mellitus in Finnish children. The 'Childhood Diabetes in Finland' Study Group.* Diabet Med, 1992. **9**(9): p. 815-9.
- 19. Mathis, D., Vence, L., and Benoist, C., *beta-Cell death during progression to diabetes*. Nature, 2001. **414**(6865): p. 792-8.
- 20. Robertson, R.P. et al., *Pancreas and islet transplantation for patients with diabetes.* Diabetes Care, 2000. **23**(1): p. 112-6.
- Oberholzer, J. et al., *Current status of islet cell transplantation*. Adv Surg, 2003.
 37: p. 253-82.
- 22. Morrow, C.E., et al., *Chronic pancreatitis: long-term surgical results of pancreatic duct drainage, pancreatic resection, and near-total pancreatectomy and islet autotransplantation.* Surgery, 1984. **96**(4): p. 608-16.
- 23. Shapiro, A.M. et al., *Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen.* N Engl J Med, 2000. **343**(4): p. 230-8.
- 24. Rickels, M.R. et al., {beta}-Cell function following human islet transplantation for type 1 diabetes. Diabetes, 2005. **54**(1): p. 100-6.
- 25. Drachenberg, C.B. et al., *Islet cell damage associated with tacrolimus and cyclosporine: morphological features in pancreas allograft biopsies and clinical correlation.* Transplantation, 1999. **68**(3): p. 396-402.
- 26. Bretzel, R.G., *Pancreatic islet and stem cell transplantation in diabetes mellitus: results and perspectives.* Adv Exp Med Biol, 2003. **534**: p. 69-96.
- 27. Scharfmann, R., *Alternative sources of beta cells for cell therapy of diabetes*. Eur J Clin Invest, 2003. **33**(7): p. 595-600.

- 29. Moberg, L. et al., *Nicotinamide inhibits tissue factor expression in isolated human pancreatic islets: implications for clinical islet transplantation*. Transplantation, 2003. **76**(9): p. 1285-8.
- Moberg, L. et al., Production of tissue factor by pancreatic islet cells as a trigger of detrimental thrombotic reactions in clinical islet transplantation. Lancet, 2002. 360(9350): p. 2039-45.
- 31. Eich, T. et al., *Positron emission tomography: a real-time tool to quantify early islet engraftment in a preclinical large animal model.* Transplantation, 2007. **84**(7): p. 893-8.
- 32. Nemerson, Y., *Tissue factor and hemostasis*. Blood, 1988. **71**: p. 1.

28.

- 33. Silverberg, S.A., N.Y., Zur, M., *Kinetics of the activation of bovine coagulation factor X by components of the extrinsic pathway.* J Biol Chem, 1977. **252**: p. 8481.
- 34. Lawson, J.H., K.M., Stram, S., Mann, K.G., *A model for the tissue factor pathway to thrombin. I. An empirical study.* J Biol Chem, 1994. **269**(37): p. 23357–66.
- 35. Carlsen, E., and Prydz, H., Activation of monocytes--more than one process. Differential effect of cytokines on monocytes. Scand J Immunol, 1988. 27(4): p. 401-4.
- 36. Conkling, P.R., Greenberg, C.S., and Weinberg, J.B., *Tumor necrosis factor induces tissue factor-like activity in human leukemia cell line U937 and peripheral blood monocytes.* Blood, 1988. **72**(1): p. 128-33.
- 37. Schwager, I., and Jungi, T.W., *Effect of human recombinant cytokines on the induction of macrophage procoagulant activity*. Blood, 1994. **83**(1): p. 152-60.
- 38. Esmon, C.T., *The regulation of natural anticoagulant pathways*. Science, 1987. **235**(4794): p. 1348-52.
- 39. Esmon, C.T., *The roles of protein C and thrombomodulin in the regulation of blood coagulation.* J Biol Chem, 1989. **264**(9): p. 4743-6.
- 40. Dittman, W.A., and Majerus, P.W., *Structure and function of thrombomodulin: a natural anticoagulant*. Blood, 1990. **75**(2): p. 329-36.

- 41. Ishii, H. et al., *Retinoic acid counteracts both the downregulation of thrombomodulin and the induction of tissue factor in cultured human endothelial cells exposed to tumor necrosis factor.* Blood, 1992. **80**(10): p. 2556-62.
- 42. Moore, K.L. et al., Endotoxin enhances tissue factor and suppresses thrombomodulin expression of human vascular endothelium in vitro. J Clin Invest, 1987. **79**(1): p. 124-30.
- 43. Nawroth, P.P. et al., *Interleukin 1 induces endothelial cell procoagulant while suppressing cell-surface anticoagulant activity*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1986. **83**(10): p. 3460-4.
- 44. Scarpati, E.M., and Sadler, J.E., *Regulation of endothelial cell coagulant properties. Modulation of tissue factor, plasminogen activator inhibitors, and thrombomodulin by phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and tumor necrosis factor.* J Biol Chem, 1989. **264**(34): p. 20705-13.
- 45. Archipoff, G. et al., *Heterogeneous regulation of constitutive thrombomodulin or inducible tissue-factor activities on the surface of human saphenous-vein endothelial cells in culture following stimulation by interleukin-1, tumour necrosis factor, thrombin or phorbol ester.* Biochem J, 1991. **273 (Pt 3)**: p. 679-84.
- 46. Rossini, A.A., Greiner, D.L., and Mordes, J.P., *Induction of immunologic tolerance for transplantation*. Physiol Rev, 1999. **79**(1): p. 99-141.
- 47. Soon-Shiong, P. et al., *Successful reversal of spontaneous diabetes in dogs by intraperitoneal microencapsulated islets*. Transplantation, 1992. **54**(5): p. 769-74.
- 48. Soon-Shiong, P. et al., *Insulin independence in a type 1 diabetic patient after encapsulated islet transplantation*. Lancet, 1994. **343**(8903): p. 950-1.
- 49. Cardani, R., et al., *Allosensitization of islet allograft recipients*. Transplantation, 2007. **84**(11): p. 1413-27.
- 49. Maki, T. et al., *Treatment of severe diabetes mellitus for more than one year using a vascularized hybrid artificial pancreas*. Transplantation, 1993. **55**(4): p. 713-7; discussion 717-8.
- 51. Sun, A.M. et al., *The use, in diabetic rats and monkeys, of artificial capillary units containing cultured islets of Langerhans (artificial endocrine pancreas).* Diabetes, 1977. **26**(12): p. 1136-9.
- 52. Cruise, G.M. et al., In vitro and in vivo performance of porcine islets encapsulated in interfacially photopolymerized poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate membranes. Cell Transplant, 1999. **8**(3): p. 293-306.

- 53. Cruise, G.M. et al., A sensitivity study of the key parameters in the interfacial photopolymerization of poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate upon porcine islets. Biotechnol Bioeng, 1998. **57**(6): p. 655-65.
- 54. Hill, R.S. et al., Immunoisolation of adult porcine islets for the treatment of diabetes mellitus. The use of photopolymerizable polyethylene glycol in the conformal coating of mass-isolated porcine islets. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1997. **831**: p. 332-43.
- Khademhosseini, A., May, M.H., and Sefton, M.V., Conformal coating of mammalian cells immobilized onto magnetically driven beads. Tissue Eng, 2005. 11(11-12): p. 1797-806.
- 56. Lahooti, S., and Sefton, M.V., *Agarose enhances the viability of intraperitoneally implanted microencapsulated L929 fibroblasts*. Cell Transplant, 2000. **9**(6): p. 785-96.
- 57. May, M.H., and Sefton, M.V., *Conformal coating of small particles and cell aggregates at a liquid-liquid interface*. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1999. **875**: p. 126-34.
- 58. Smentana, K., Cell biology of hydrogels. Biomaterials, 1993. 14: p. 1046-50.
- 59. de Vos, D. et al., *Characterisation and in vitro cytotoxicity of triorganophosphinegold(i) 2-mercaptobenzoate complexes.* Met Based Drugs, 1999. **6**(1): p. 31-40.
- 60. de Vos, P., Hamel, A.F., and Tatarkiewicz, K., *Considerations for successful transplantation of encapsulated pancreatic islets*. Diabetologia, 2002. **45**(2): p. 159-73.
- 61. Lim, F., and Sun, A.M., *Microencapsulated islets as bioartificial endocrine pancreas*. Science, 1980. **210**(4472): p. 908-10.
- 62. Iwata, H. et al., *Evaluation of microencapsulated islets in agarose gel as bioartificial pancreas by studies of hormone secretion in culture and by xenotransplantation*. Diabetes, 1989. **38 Suppl 1**: p. 224-5.
- 63. Painter, T.D., and Karpf, M., Superior vena cava syndrome: diagnostic procedures. Am J Med Sci, 1983. 285(3): p. 2-6.
- 64. Martinsen, A., Skjak-Braek, G., and Smidsrod, O., *Alginate as immobilization material: I. Correlation between chemical and physical properties of alginate gel beads.* Biotechnol Bioeng, 1989. **33**(1): p. 79-89.

- 66. Thu, B. et al., *Alginate polycation microcapsules*. *I. Interaction between alginate and polycation*. Biomaterials, 1996. **17**(10): p. 1031-40.
- 67. Thu, B. et al., *Alginate polycation microcapsules*. *II. Some functional properties*. Biomaterials, 1996. **17**(11): p. 1069-79.
- 68. Grant, G.T., M.E., Rees, D.A., Smith, P.J.C., and Thom, D., *Biological interactions between polysaccharides and divalent cations: the egg-box model*. FEBS Lett 1973. **32**: p. 195-8.
- 69. Smidsrod, O., *Molecular basis for some physical properties of alginates in the gel state.* J Chem Soc Faraday Trans, 1974. **57**: p. 263–74.
- 70. De Vos P, A.A., Tam, S.K., Faas, M.M., and Halle, J.P., *Advances and barriers in mammalian cell encapsulation for treatment of diabetes*. Immun Endoc Metab Agents Med Chem, 2006: p. 139-153.
- 71. Morch, Y.A., D.I., Strand, B.L., and Skja[°]k-Bræk, G., *Ba and Sr on alginate microbeads*. Biomacromolecules, 2006.
- 72. Stabler, C. et al., *The effects of alginate composition on encapsulated betaTC3 cells*. Biomaterials, 2001. **22**(11): p. 1301-10.
- 73. Simpson, N.E. et al., *The role of the CaCl2-guluronic acid interaction on alginate encapsulated betaTC3 cells.* Biomaterials, 2004. **25**(13): p. 2603-10.
- 74. Benson, J.P. et al., *Towards the development of a bioartificial pancreas: effects of poly-L-lysine on alginate beads with BTC3 cells.* Cell Transplant, 1997. **6**(4): p. 395-402.
- 75. Darquy, S. et al., *Complement activation by alginate-polylysine microcapsules used for islet transplantation*. Artif Organs, 1994. **18**(12): p. 898-903.
- 76. Pueyo, M.E. et al., *In vitro activation of human macrophages by alginatepolylysine microcapsules.* J Biomater Sci Polym Ed, 1993. **5**(3): p. 197-203.
- 77. Strand, B.L. et al., *Poly-L-Lysine induces fibrosis on alginate microcapsules via the induction of cytokines.* Cell Transplant, 2001. **10**(3): p. 263-75.
- 78. Sun, Y. et al., Normalization of diabetes in spontaneously diabetic cynomologus monkeys by xenografts of microencapsulated porcine islets without immunosuppression. J Clin Invest, 1996. **98**(6): p. 1417-22.

- 79. Schneider, S. et al., Long-term graft function of adult rat and human islets encapsulated in novel alginate-based microcapsules after transplantation in immunocompetent diabetic mice. Diabetes, 2005. **54**(3): p. 687-93.
- 80. Wilson, J.T., and Chaikof, E.L., *Challenges and emerging technologies in the immunoisolation of cells and tissues*. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2008. **60**(2): p. 124-45.
- 81. Heywood, H.K., Bader, D.L., and Lee, D.A., *Rate of oxygen consumption by isolated articular chondrocytes is sensitive to medium glucose concentration.* J Cell Physiol, 2006. **206**(2): p. 402-10.
- 82. Motterlini, R. et al., *Depression of endothelial and smooth muscle cell oxygen consumption by endotoxin*. Am J Physiol, 1998. **275**(3 Pt 2): p. H776-82.
- 83. Wang, W. et al., *Increased oxygen consumption rates in response to high glucose detected by a novel oxygen biosensor system in non-human primate and human islets.* J Endocrinol, 2005. **185**(3): p. 445-55.
- 84. Ai, H., Jones, S., and Lvov, Y., *Biomedical applications of electrostatic layer-bylayer nano-assembly of polymers, enzymes, and nanoparticles.* Cell Biochem Biophysics 2003 **39**(23-43).
- 85. Decher, G., *Fussy nanoassemblies: Toward layered polymeric multicomposites* Science, 1997. **277**(1232-1237).
- 86. Schmitt, J., Griinewald, T., Decher, G., Pershan, P., Kjaer, K., and Losche, M., Internal structure of layer-by-layer adsorbed olyelectrolytes films: a neutron and X-ray reflectivity study. Macromolecules 1993 **26**: p. 7058-7063.
- 87. Merrill, E.W., *Poly(ethylene oxide) star molecules: synthesis, characterization, and applications in medicine and biology.* J Biomater Sci Polym Ed, 1993. **5**(1-2): p. 1-11.
- Veronese, F.M. et al., Surface modification of proteins. Activation of monomethoxy-polyethylene glycols by phenylchloroformates and modification of ribonuclease and superoxide dismutase. Appl Biochem Biotechnol, 1985. 11(2): p. 141-52.
- 89. Amiji, M., and Park, K., Surface modification of polymeric biomaterials with poly(ethylene oxide), albumin, and heparin for reduced thrombogenicity. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed, 1993. **4**(3): p. 217-34.
- 90. Chen, R.H. et al., *Properties of two urate oxidases modified by the covalent attachment of poly(ethylene glycol)*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1981. **660**(2): p. 293-8.

- 92. Suzuki, T. et al., *Physicochemical and biological properties of poly(ethylene glycol)-coupled immunoglobulin G.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 1984. **788**(2): p. 248-55.
- 93. Abuchowski, A. et al., Alteration of immunological properties of bovine serum albumin by covalent attachment of polyethylene glycol. J Biol Chem, 1977. **252**(11): p. 3578-81.
- 94. Davis, S. et al., Alteration of the circulating life and antigenic properties of bovine adenosine deaminase in mice by attachment of polyethylene glycol. Clin Exp Immunol, 1981. **46**(3): p. 649-52.
- 95. Katre, N.V., Knauf, M.J., and Laird, W.J., *Chemical modification of recombinant interleukin 2 by polyethylene glycol increases its potency in the murine Meth A sarcoma model.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1987. **84**(6): p. 1487-91.
- 96. Knauf, M.J. et al., *Relationship of effective molecular size to systemic clearance in rats of recombinant interleukin-2 chemically modified with water-soluble polymers.* J Biol Chem, 1988. **263**(29): p. 15064-70.
- 97. Mast, A.E. et al., *Evaluation of the rapid plasma elimination of recombinant alpha 1-proteinase inhibitor: synthesis of polyethylene glycol conjugates with improved therapeutic potential.* J Lab Clin Med, 1990. **116**(1): p. 58-65.
- 98. Satake-Ishikawa, R. et al., *Chemical modification of recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor by polyethylene glycol increases its biological activity in vivo.* Cell Struct Funct, 1992. **17**(3): p. 157-60.
- 99. Ashihara, Y. et al., *Modification of E. coli L-asparaginase with polyethylene glycol: disappearance of binding ability to anti-asparaginase serum.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1978. **83**(2): p. 385-91.
- 100. Cao, S.G. et al., *Chemical modification of enzyme molecules to improve their characteristics*. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1990. **613**: p. 460-7.
- 101. Kamisaki, Y. et al., *Reduction in immunogenicity and clearance rate of Escherichia coli L-asparaginase by modification with monomethoxypolyethylene glycol.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 1981. **216**(2): p. 410-4.
- Nucci, M.L., Olejarczyk, J., and Abuchowski, A. *Immunogenicity of polyethylene glycol-modified superoxide dismutase and catalase*. J Free Radic Biol Med, 1986. 2(5-6): p. 321-5.

- 103. Tsuji, J. et al., *Studies on antigenicity of the polyethylene glycol (PEG)-modified uricase*. Int J Immunopharmacol, 1985. **7**(5): p. 725-30.
- 104. Fuertges, F., and Abuchowski, A., *The clinical efficacy of poly(ethylene glycol)modified proteins*. J Control Release, 1990. **11**(1-3): p. 139-148.
- Caliceti, P., and Veronese, F.M., *Pharmacokinetic and biodistribution properties* of poly(ethylene glycol)-protein conjugates. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2003. 55(10): p. 1261-77.
- 106. Chen, A., and Scott, M., *Current and future applications of immunological attenuation via pegylation of cells and tissue*. Biodrugs, 2001. **15**(12): p. 833-847.
- 107. Jang, J.Y. et al., *Immune reactions of lymphocytes and macrophages against PEG-grafted pancreatic islets*. Biomaterials, 2004. **25**(17): p. 3663-9.
- 108. Lee, D.Y. et al., A new strategy toward improving immunoprotection in cell therapy for diabetes mellitus: long-functioning PEGylated islets in vivo. Tissue Eng, 2006. **12**(3): p. 615-23.
- Murad, K.L. et al., Structural and functional consequences of antigenic modulation of red blood cells with methoxypoly(ethylene glycol). Blood, 1999.
 93(6): p. 2121-7.
- 110. Scott, M.D., and Murad, K.L., *Cellular camouflage: fooling the immune system with polymers*. Curr Pharm Des, 1998. **4**(6): p. 423-38.
- 111. Scott, M.D. et al., *Chemical camouflage of antigenic determinants: stealth erythrocytes.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1997. **94**(14): p. 7566-71.
- 112. Scott, M.D., and Chen, A.M., *Beyond the red cell: pegylation of other blood cells and tissues*. Transfus Clin Biol, 2004. **11**(1): p. 40-6.
- 113. Jeong, S.T., and Byun, S.M., *Decreased agglutinability of methoxy-polyethylene glycol attached red blood cells: significance as a blood substitute.* Artif Cells Blood Substit Immobil Biotechnol, 1996. **24**(5): p. 503-11.
- 114. Blazar, B.R. et al., *Opposing roles of CD28:B7 and CTLA-4:B7 pathways in regulating in vivo alloresponses in murine recipients of MHC disparate T cells.* J Immunol, 1999. **162**(11): p. 6368-77.
- 115. Kishimoto, H. and Sprent, J., *Strong TCR ligation without costimulation causes rapid onset of Fas-dependent apoptosis of naive murine CD4+ T cells.* J Immunol, 1999. **163**(4): p. 1817-26.

- 117. Sayegh, M.H., et al., *CD28-B7 blockade after alloantigenic challenge in vivo inhibits Th1 cytokines but spares Th2*. J Exp Med, 1995. **181**(5): p. 1869-74.
- 118. Yu, X.Z., Martin, P.J., and Anasetti, C., *Role of CD28 in acute graft-versus-host disease*. Blood, 1998. **92**(8): p. 2963-70.
- 119. Lu, Y. et al., "Immune camouflage" with PEG to prevent rejection in islet transplantation. Amer J Transplant, 2006. 6 supp 2: p. 128.
- 120. Lee, D.Y. et al., *Optimization of monomethoxy-polyethylene glycol grafting on the pancreatic islet capsules*. J Biomed Mater Res, 2002. **62**(3): p. 372-7.
- 121. Panza, J.L. et al., *Treatment of rat pancreatic islets with reactive PEG*. Biomaterials, 2000. **21**(11): p. 1155-64.
- 122. Xie, D. et al., *Cytoprotection of PEG-modified adult porcine pancreatic islets for improved xenotransplantation*. Biomaterials, 2005. **26**(4): p. 403-12.
- 123. Lee, D.Y., Nam, J.H., and Byun, Y., *Effect of polyethylene glycol grafted onto islet capsules on prevention of splenocyte and cytokine attacks.* J Biomater Sci Polym Ed, 2004. **15**(6): p. 753-66.
- 124. Lee, D.Y. et al., *Highly poly(ethylene) glycolylated islets improve long-term islet allograft survival without immunosuppressive medication*. Tissue Eng, 2007. 13(8): p. 2133-41.
- 125. Contreras, J.L. et al., A novel approach to xenotransplantation combining surface engineering and genetic modification of isolated adult porcine islets. Surgery, 2004. **136**(3): p. 537-47.
- 126. Sun, J., Wu, T., Wang, Z., Zhang, X., and Shen, J., *Covalently attached multilayer* assemblies by sequential adsorption of polycationic diazo-resins and polyanionic poly(acrylic) acid. Langmuir, 2000. **10**: p. 4620-4624.
- 127. Lu, C., Bai, S., Zhang, D., Huang, L., Ma, J., Luo, C., and Cao, W.L., *Stable multilayer ultrathin film containing covalently attached colloidal Ag nanoparticles*. Nanotechnology 2003. **14**: p. 680-683.
- 128. Kozlovskaya, V., Ok, S., Sousa, A., Libera, M., and Sukhishvili, S.A., 2003 p. 8590-8592.

- 129. Moya, S., L.D., Voigt, A., Leporatti, S., Donath, E., and Möhwald, H., Colloids Surf. A, 2001. **27**: p. 183-185.
- 130. Yang, S.Y. et al., *Bioinert solution-cross-linked hydrogen-bonded multilayers on colloidal particles*. Langmuir, 2004. **20**(14): p. 5978-81.
- 131. De Geest, B.G. et al., *Biodegradable microcapsules designed via 'click' chemistry*. Chem Commun (Camb), 2008(2): p. 190-2.
- 132. Feng, Z., Wang, Z., Gao, C., and Shen, J., *Direct covalent assembly to fabricate microcapsules with ultrathin walls and high mechanical strength.* Adv Mater, 2007. **19**(3687-3691).
- 133. Kim, J., Wacker, B.K., and Elbert, D.L., *Thin polymer layers formed using multiarm poly(ethylene glycol) vinylsulfone by a covalent layer-by-layer method.* Biomacromolecules, 2007. **8**(11): p. 3682-6.
- 134. Lui, Y., Bruening, M., Bergbreiter, D., and Crooks, R., *Multilayer dendrimer*polyanhydride composite films on glass, silicon, and gold wafers Angew Chem Int Ed, 1997. **36**(2114-2116).
- 135. Major, J., and Blanchard, G., *Covalently bound polymer multilayers for efficient metal ion sorption* Langmuir 2001. **17**: p. 1163-1168.
- 136. Serizawa, T., Nanameki, K., Yamamoto, K., and Akashi, M., *Thermoresponsive ultrathin hydrogens prepared by sequential chemical reactions*. Macromolecules 2002. **35**(2184-2189).
- Sun, X.L. et al., Carbohydrate and protein immobilization onto solid surfaces by sequential Diels-Alder and azide-alkyne cycloadditions. Bioconjug Chem, 2006. 17(1): p. 52-7.
- Zhang, F., Jia, Z., and Srinivasan, M.P., Application of direct covalent molecular assembly in the fabrication of polyimide ultrathin films. Langmuir, 2005. 21(8): p. 3389-95.
- 139. Lu, M.Z. et al., *Cell encapsulation with alginate and alpha-phenoxycinnamylidene-acetylated poly(allylamine)*. Biotechnol Bioeng, 2000. **70**(5): p. 479-83.
- 140. Smeds, K.A. et al., *Photocrosslinkable polysaccharides for in situ hydrogel formation*. J Biomed Mater Res, 2001. **54**(1): p. 115-21.
- 141. Donati, I. et al., *Tailor-made alginate bearing galactose moieties on mannuronic residues: selective modification achieved by a chemoenzymatic strategy*. Biomacromolecules, 2005. **6**(1): p. 88-98.

143. Weber, L.M., Cheung, C.Y., and Anseth, K.S., *Multifunctional pancreatic islet* encapsulation barriers achieved via multilayer PEG hydrogels. Cell Transplant, 2008. **16**(10): p. 1049-57.

142.

37.

- 144. Pathak, C.P., Sawhney, A.S., and Hubbel, J.A., *Rapid photopolymerization of immunoprotective gels in contact with cells and tissue*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 1992. **114**: p. 8311-8312.
- Sumoski, W., Baquerizo, H., and Rabinovitch, A., Oxygen free radical scavengers protect rat islet cells from damage by cytokines. Diabetologia, 1989. 32(11): p. 792-6.
- 146. Rabinovitch, A. et al., *Cytotoxic effects of cytokines on rat islets: evidence for involvement of free radicals and lipid peroxidation*. Diabetologia, 1992. **35**(5): p. 409-13.
- 147. Suarez-Pinzon, W.L. et al., *Mechanisms of cytokine-induced destruction of rat insulinoma cells: the role of nitric oxide.* Endocrinology, 1994. **134**(3): p. 1006-10.
- 148. Tiedge, M. et al., *Relation between antioxidant enzyme gene expression and antioxidative defense status of insulin-producing cells*. Diabetes, 1997. **46**(11): p. 1733-42.
- 149. Breguet, V. et al., Formation of microcapsules from polyelectrolyte and covalent interactions. Langmuir, 2005. 21(21): p. 9764-72.
- 150. Chen, H. et al., *Preparation and characterization of novel polymeric microcapsules for live cell encapsulation and therapy*. Cell Biochem Biophys, 2007. **47**(1): p. 159-68.
- 151. Dusseault, J. et al., *The effect of covalent cross-links between the membrane components of microcapsules on the dissemination of encapsulated malignant cells.* Biomaterials, 2008. **29**(7): p. 917-24.
- 152. Wang, M.S., Childs, R.F., and Chang, P.L., *A novel method to enhance the stability of alginate-poly-L-lysine-alginate microcapsules.* J Biomater Sci Polym Ed, 2005. **16**(1): p. 91-113.
- 153. Saxon, E., and Bertozzi, C.R., *Cell surface engineering by a modified Staudinger reaction*. Science, 2000. **287**(5460): p. 2007-10.

- 154. Saxon, E., Armstrong, J.I., and Bertozzi, C.R., *A "traceless" Staudinger ligation* for the chemoselective synthesis of amide bonds. Org Lett, 2000. **2**(14): p. 2141-3.
- 155. Lyman, M.D., Melanson, D., and Sawhney, A.S., *Characterization of the formation of interfacially photopolymerized thin hydrogels in contact with arterial tissue*. Biomaterials, 1996. **17**(3): p. 359-64.
- 156. Sawhney, A.S., Pathak, C.P., and Hubbell, J.A., *Interfacial photopolymerization* of poly(ethylene glycol)-based hydrogels upon alginate-poly(l-lysine) microcapsules for enhanced biocompatibility. Biomaterials, 1993. **14**(13): p. 1008-16.
- 157. Meyer, R.R. et al., *A composite method for the determination of the chirality of single walled carbon nanotubes*. J Microsc, 2003. **212**(Pt 2): p. 152-7.
- 158. Stone, A.J. and Siegel, J.M., *Correlates of accurate knowledge of cancer*. Health Educ Q, 1986. **13**(1): p. 39-50.
- 159. Zuo, J.M. et al., *Atomic resolution imaging of a carbon nanotube from diffraction intensities*. Science, 2003. **300**(5624): p. 1419-21.
- 160. Prescher, J.A. and Bertozzi, C.R., *Chemistry in living systems*. Nat Chem Biol, 2005. **1**(1): p. 13-21.
- 161. Prescher, J.A., Dube, D.H., and Bertozzi, C.R., *Chemical remodelling of cell surfaces in living animals*. Nature, 2004. **430**(7002): p. 873-7.
- 162. Winn, S.R. et al., Behavioral recovery following intrastriatal implantation of microencapsulated PC12 cells. Exp Neurol, 1991. **113**(3): p. 322-9.
- 163. Hasse, C. et al., Parathyroid xenotransplantation without immunosuppression in experimental hypoparathyroidism: long-term in vivo function following microencapsulation with a clinically suitable alginate. World J Surg, 2000. 24(11): p. 1361-6.
- 164. Lanza, R.P. and Chick, W.L., *Transplantation of encapsulated cells and tissues*. Surgery, 1997. **121**(1): p. 1-9.
- 165. Mosman, T., *Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: Applications to proliferation and cytotoxicity* J. Immunol. Methods, 1983. **65**: p. 55-63.
- 166. de Vos, P. et al., *Alginate-based microcapsules for immunoisolation of pancreatic islets*. Biomaterials, 2006. **27**(32): p. 5603-17.

- 167. Cole, D.R. et al., *Microencapsulated islet grafts in the BB/E rat: a possible role for cytokines in graft failure*. Diabetologia, 1992. **35**(3): p. 231-7.
- 168. Kessler, L. et al., Cytotoxicity of peritoneal murine macrophages against encapsulated pancreatic rat islets: in vivo and in vitro studies. J Leukoc Biol, 1996. **60**(6): p. 729-36.
- 169. Pukel, C., Baquerizo, H., and Rabinovitch, A., *Destruction of rat islet cell* monolayers by cytokines. Synergistic interactions of interferon-gamma, tumor necrosis factor, lymphotoxin, and interleukin 1. Diabetes, 1988. **37**(1): p. 133-6.
- 170. Jones, T.R. et al., *The role of the IL-2 pathway in costimulation blockaderesistant rejection of allografts*. J Immunol, 2002. **168**(3): p. 1123-30.
- 171. Kuttler, B., Wanka, H., and Hahn, H.J., *Co-culture of pancreatic islets and allogeneic lymphocytes: alterations of responder and stimulator cells.* Transplantation, 1997. **64**(3): p. 480-9.
- 172. Campbell, I.L., Iscaro, A., and Harrison, L.C., *IFN-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Cytotoxicity to murine islets of Langerhans.* J Immunol, 1988. **141**(7): p. 2325-9.
- 173. Johansson, H. et al., *Tissue factor produced by the endocrine cells of the islets of Langerhans is associated with a negative outcome of clinical islet transplantation*. Diabetes, 2005. **54**(6): p. 1755-62.
- 174. Iino, S. et al., *Thrombomodulin expression on Langerhans' islet: can endogenous 'anticoagulant on demand' overcome detrimental thrombotic complications in clinical islet transplantation?* J Thromb Haemost, 2004. **2**(5): p. 833-4.